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been eliminated by legislation for all loans originated on and after April 1, 2006, and it is in excess of expected spreads.  In addition, because 
variable-rate floor income is subject to the underlying rate for the subject loans being reset annually on July 1, it is a factor beyond the 
Company’s control which can affect the period-to-period comparability of results of operations.  

 
(e) Discontinued operations:  In May 2007, the Company sold EDULINX.  As a result of this transaction, the results of operations for EDULINX 

are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.  The Company presents “base net income” excluding discontinued operations 
since the operations and cash flows of EDULINX have been eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company. 

 
(f) For 2010 and 2009, income taxes are applied based on 38% of income (loss) before income taxes for the individual operating segments.  For 

2008, income taxes for each individual operating segment are applied based on the consolidated effective tax rate. 
 
16. Legal Proceedings 
 
General  
 
The Company is subject to various claims, lawsuits, and proceedings that arise in the normal course of business. These matters 
principally consist of claims by student loan borrowers disputing the manner in which their student loans have been processed and 
disputes with other business entities. In addition, from time to time the Company receives information and document requests from 
state or federal regulators concerning its business practices. The Company cooperates with these inquiries and responds to the 
requests. While the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of any inquiry or investigation, the Company believes its activities 
have materially complied with applicable law, including the Higher Education Act, the rules and regulations adopted by the 
Department of Education thereunder, and the Department’s guidance regarding those rules and regulations. On the basis of present 
information, anticipated insurance coverage, and advice received from counsel, it is the opinion of the Company’s management that 
the disposition or ultimate determination of these claims, lawsuits, and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial position, or results of operations. 
 
Oberg Litigation 
 
On September 28, 2009, the Company was served with a Summons and First Amended Complaint naming the Company as one of ten 
defendants in a “qui tam” action brought by Jon H. Oberg on behalf of the United States of America.  Qui tam actions assert claims by 
an individual on behalf of the federal government, and are filed under seal until the government decides, if at all, to intervene in the 
case. 
 
The First Amended Complaint (the “Oberg Complaint”) alleges the defendant student loan lenders submitted false claims for payment 
to the Department of Education in order to obtain special allowance payments on certain student loans at a rate of 9.5%, which the 
Oberg Complaint alleges were in excess of amounts permitted by law.   
 
The Oberg Complaint alleged that approximately $407 million in unlawful 9.5% special allowance payment claims were submitted by 
the Company,  and sought a judgment against the defendants in the amount of three times the amount of damages sustained by the 
government in connection with the alleged overbilling by the defendants for special allowance payments, as well as civil penalties.    
 
During 2010, the Company entered into a settlement agreement to settle all claims associated with the Oberg Complaint. As a result of 
the settlement, the Company recorded a $55.0 million pre-tax charge during the third quarter of 2010. On November 3, 2010, the 
Company paid the $55.0 million settlement. The Company expects that the IRS will review the settlement agreement as part of its 
normal procedures for settlements with government agencies, to determine if the payments are deductible as ordinary and necessary 
business expenses. While the Company believes that the payments are fully deductible under applicable tax law, the IRS may not 
agree with that position.  
 
The Company believed it had strong defenses to the Oberg Complaint, but entered into the settlement agreement in order to eliminate 
the uncertainty, distraction, and expense of a trial. 
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17. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Leases 
 
The Company is committed under noncancelable operating leases for office and warehouse space and equipment. Total rental expense 
incurred by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 was $9.3 million, $10.4 million, and $11.9 million, 
respectively. Minimum future rentals as of December 31, 2010, under noncancelable operating leases are shown below:  
 

2011 $ 6,273   
2012 5,813   
2013 4,137   
2014 1,669   
2015 197   

$ 18,089   
 

Future rental commitments for leases in the table above have been reduced by minimum non-cancelable sublease rentals aggregating 
approximately $2.4 million as of December 31, 2010. 
 
Contingent Consideration - infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. (“infiNET”) 
 
In 2004, the Company purchased 50% of the stock of infiNET and, in 2006, purchased the remaining 50% of infiNET’s stock. 
infiNET provides software for customer-focused electronic transactions, information sharing, and electronic account and bill 
presentment for colleges and universities. Consideration for the purchase of the remaining 50% of the stock of infiNET included 
95,380 restricted shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the 95,380 shares of 
Class A common stock issued in the acquisition were subject to stock price guaranty provisions whereby if on or about February 28, 
2011 the average market trading price of the Class A common stock was less than $104.8375 per share and had not exceeded that 
price for any 25 consecutive trading days during the 5-year period from the closing of the acquisition to February 28, 2011, then the 
Company must pay additional cash to the sellers of infiNET for each share of Class A common stock issued in an amount representing 
the difference between $104.8375 less the greater of $41.9335 or the gross sales price such seller obtained from a sale of the shares 
occurring subsequent to February 28, 2011 as defined in the agreement. On February 28, 2011, the Company paid $5.9 million in cash 
to satisfy this obligation which was recorded by the Company as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.  
 
18.  Defined Contribution Benefit Plan 
 
The Company has a 401(k) savings plan that cover substantially all of its employees. Employees may contribute up to 100% of their 
pre-tax salary, subject to IRS limitations. The Company matches up to 100 percent on the first 3 percent of contributions and 50 
percent on the next 2 percent. The Company made contributions to the plan of $3.1 million, $3.2 million, and $3.5 million during the 
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. Union Bank, an entity under common control with the Company, 
serves as the trustee and administrator for the plan. 
 
19.  Stock Based Compensation Plans 
 
Restricted Stock Plan 
 
The Company has a restricted stock plan that is intended to provide incentives to attract, retain, and motivate employees in order to 
achieve long term growth and profitability objectives. The restricted stock plan provides for the grant to eligible employees of awards 
of restricted shares of Class A common stock. An aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of Class A common stock have been reserved for 
issuance under the restricted stock plan, subject to antidilution adjustments in the event of certain changes in capital structure.  
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The following table summarizes restricted stock activity: 
 

2010 2009 2008
Non-vested at beginning of year 320,461   329,173   443,928   
Granted 96,327   72,471   72,875   
Vested (48,523)  (43,873)  (7,530)  
Canceled (57,146)  (37,310)  (180,100)  
Non-vested at end of year 311,119   320,461   329,173   

Years ended December 31,

 
The fair value of restricted stock awards is determined on the grant date based on the Company’s stock price and is amortized to 
compensation cost over the related vesting periods. As of December 31, 2010, there was $3.1 million of unrecognized compensation 
cost included in “additional paid-in capital” on the consolidated balance sheet related to restricted stock, which is expected to be 
recognized as compensation expense as shown in the table below.  
 

2011 $ 992
2012 678
2013 499
2014 362
2015 251
2016 and thereafter 297

$ 3,079
 

 
To date, the shares issued under this plan vest immediately or vest in either three or ten years. The Company pays dividends on non-
vested stock. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company recognized compensation expense of $1.5 
million, $1.6 million, and $2.4 million, respectively, related to shares issued under the restricted stock plan.  
 
Employee Share Purchase Plan 
 
The Company has an employee share purchase plan pursuant to which employees are entitled to purchase common stock from payroll 
deductions at a 15% discount from market value. All employees, other than those whose customary employment is 20 hours or less 
per week, who have been employed for at least six months, or another period determined by the Company’s compensation committee 
not in excess of two years, are eligible to purchase Class A common stock under the plan. During the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009, and 2008, the Company recognized compensation expense of approximately $141,000, $216,000, and $186,000 respectively, in 
connection with issuing 31,729 shares, 52,311 shares, and 71,172 shares, respectively, under this plan.  
 
Employee Stock Purchase Loan Plan 
 
The Company has entered into loan agreements with employees pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Loan Plan (the 
“Loan Plan”). Loans under this plan mature ten years from grant date and bear interest equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 50 
basis points. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of the loans granted under the Loan Plan was $1.2 million and $1.4 
million, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction to stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheets. During 2010, the 
Company’s Board of Directors terminated the Loan Plan effective as of December 31, 2010 such that no future awards or loans will be 
made under the plan. Such termination does not affect loans outstanding.  
 
Non-employee Directors Compensation Plan 
 
The Company has a compensation plan for non-employee directors pursuant to which non-employee directors can elect to receive 
their annual retainer fees in the form of cash or Class A common stock. If a nonemployee director elects to receive Class A common 
stock, the number of shares of Class A common stock that are awarded is equal to the amount of the annual retainer fee otherwise 
payable in cash divided by 85% of the fair market value of a share of Class A common stock on the date the fee is payable. Non-
employee directors who choose to receive Class A common stock may also elect to defer receipt of the Class A common stock until 
termination of their service on the board of directors.  
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company recognized approximately $585,000, $575,000, and $494,000, 
respectively, of expense related to this plan. The following table provides the number of shares issued under this plan for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008. 

Shares issued - 
not deferred

Shared issued - 
deferred Total

Year ended December 31, 2010 14,632   12,466   27,098   
Year ended December 31, 2009 7,143   36,078   43,221   
Year ended December 31, 2008 17,837   35,806   53,643   

 
20. Related Parties 
 
Union Bank is controlled by Farmers & Merchants Investment Inc. (“F&M”) which owns a majority of Union Bank’s common stock 
and a minority share of Union Bank’s non-voting preferred stock.  Michael S. Dunlap, a significant shareholder, Chief Executive 
Officer, Chairman, and a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, owns or controls a significant portion of the stock of 
F&M, while Mr. Dunlap’s sister, Angela L. Muhleisen, also owns or controls a significant portion of F&M stock. Mr. Dunlap serves 
as a Director and Co-President of F&M.  Ms. Muhleisen serves as Director and Co-President of F&M and as a Director, Chairperson, 
President, and Chief Executive Officer of Union Bank.  Union Bank is deemed to have beneficial ownership of various shares of the 
Company because it serves in a capacity of trustee and has sole voting and/or investment power.  Mr. Dunlap and Ms. Muhleisen 
beneficially own a significant percent of the voting rights of the Company’s outstanding common stock. 
 
The Company has entered into certain contractual arrangements with Union Bank.  These transactions are summarized below. 
 
Loan Sales and Purchases 
 
During 2008 and 2009, the Company sold $535.4 million (par value) and $76.4 million (par value), respectively, of FFELP student 
loans (the “FFELP Loans”) to Union Bank.  The Company recognized a loss of $3.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively, on these 
loan sales which represented unamortized loan costs on these portfolios.  These loans were sold pursuant to an affiliate transaction 
exemption granted by the Federal Reserve Board which allowed Union Bank to purchase FFELP loans from the Company. In 
connection with the exemption and the loan purchases by Union Bank, an Assurance Commitment Agreement (the “Commitment 
Agreement”) was also entered into, by and among, the Company, Union Bank, and Mr. Dunlap. Per the terms of the Commitment 
Agreement, the Company provided certain assurances to Union Bank designed to mitigate potential losses related to the FFELP 
Loans, including holding amounts in escrow equal to the unguaranteed portion and reimbursing Union Bank for losses, if any, related 
to the portfolio.  As part of this agreement, the Company was also obligated to buy back loans once they were 30 days delinquent. In 
2010 and 2009, the Company bought back from Union Bank $11.7 million (par value) and $36.9 million (par value), respectively, in 
loans and incurred expenses of $128,000 and $374,000, respectively, related to this obligation. 
 
In March 2010, the Company purchased $524.2 million (par value) of federally insured student loans from Union Bank, which 
represented all outstanding FFELP loans remaining under the provisions of the Commitment Agreement. As a result of this loan 
purchase, the Company no longer has a commitment to hold amounts in escrow, reimburse Union Bank for losses, and buy back 
delinquent loans related to this portfolio. 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company purchased student loans of $989.2 million (par value), 
$47.6 million (par value), and $208.0 million (par value), respectively, from Union Bank, which includes $535.9 million (par value) 
and $36.9 million (par value) of loans purchased in 2010 and 2009, respectively, under the Commitment Agreement as discussed 
previously. For the year ended December 31, 2008, premiums paid on these loans totaled $4.9 million.  No premiums were paid for 
loans purchased in 2010 and 2009.   
 
Loan Servicing 
 
The Company serviced $530.0 million, $539.8 million, and $533.1 million of loans for Union Bank as of December 31, 2010, 2009, 
and 2008, respectively.  Servicing revenue earned by the Company from servicing loans for Union Bank was $1.8 million, $1.9 
million, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  As of both December 31, 2010 and 
2009, accounts receivable includes $0.2 million due from Union Bank for loan servicing.   
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Funding 
 
Participation Agreement 
 
The Company maintains an agreement with Union Bank, as trustee for various grantor trusts, under which Union Bank has agreed to 
purchase from the Company participation interests in student loans (the “FFELP Participation Agreement”). The Company uses this 
facility as a source to fund FFELP student loans. The Company has the option to purchase the participation interests from the grantor 
trusts at the end of a 364-day term upon termination of the participation certificate.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, $350.4 
million and $613.3 million, respectively, of loans were subject to outstanding participation interests held by Union Bank, as trustee, 
under this agreement. The agreement automatically renews annually and is terminable by either party upon five business days notice. 
This agreement provides beneficiaries of Union Bank’s grantor trusts with access to investments in interests in student loans, while 
providing liquidity to the Company on a short-term basis.  The Company can participate loans to Union Bank to the extent of 
availability under the grantor trusts, up to $750 million or an amount in excess of $750 million if mutually agreed to by both parties.  
Loans participated under this agreement have been accounted for by the Company as loan sales.  Accordingly, the participation 
interests sold are not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Bonds and Notes Payable 
 
The Company has from time to time repurchased certain of its own asset-backed securities (bonds and notes payable). For accounting 
purposes, these notes have been effectively retired and are not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. However, 
these securities are legally outstanding at the trust level and the Company could sell these notes to third parties or redeem the notes at 
par as cash is generated by the trust estate. During 2010, the Company participated $218.7 million of these securities to Union Bank, 
as trustee for various grantor trusts, and obtained cash proceeds equal to the par value of the notes. The Company has entered into a 
Guaranteed Purchase Agreement with Union Bank whereby the Company must purchase these notes back from Union Bank at par 
upon the request of Union Bank. As of December 31, 2010, $107.1 million of these securities were outstanding and subject to the 
participation agreement and are included in “bonds and notes payable” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Operating Cash Accounts 
 
The majority of the Company’s cash operating accounts are maintained at Union Bank. The Company also participates in the Short 
term Federal Investment Trust (“STFIT”) of the Student Loan Trust Division of Union Bank, which is included in “cash and cash 
equivalents - held at a related party” and “restricted cash - due to customers” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had $326.9 million and $387.8 million, respectively, invested in the STFIT or deposited 
at Union Bank in operating accounts, of which $50.1 million and $61.9 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, 
represented cash collected for customers. Interest income earned by the Company on the amounts invested in the STFIT for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 was $1.1 million, $2.9 million, and $3.9 million, respectively. 
 
529 Plan Administration Services 
 
The Company provides certain 529 Plan administration services to certain college savings plans (the “College Savings Plans”) through 
a contract with Union Bank, as the program manager. Union Bank is entitled to a fee as program manager pursuant to its program 
management agreement with the College Savings Plans. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company has 
received fees of $5.7 million, $3.4 million, and $4.6 million, respectively, from Union Bank related to the administration services 
provided to the College Savings Plans.   
 
Lease Arrangements 
 
On October 13, 2006, the Company purchased its corporate headquarters building and assumed certain existing lease agreements 
pursuant to which Union Bank leases office and storage space. The leases assumed by the Company provided for the lease to Union 
Bank of a total of approximately 15,000 square feet through June 30, 2008. The lease was amended to reduce the space leased to 4,000 
square feet. Union Bank paid the Company approximately $71,000, $70,000, and $141,000 for commercial rent and storage income 
during 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. The amended lease agreement expires on June 30, 2018. 
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Other Fees Paid to Union Bank 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company paid Union Bank approximately $358,000, $210,000, and 
$193,000, respectively, in administrative services; approximately $120,000, $118,000, and $140,000, respectively, in commissions, 
and approximately $177,000, $72,000, and $6,000, respectively, in cash management fees. 
 
Other Fees Received from Union Bank 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, Union Bank paid the Company approximately $112,000, $110,000, and 
$65,000, respectively, under an employee sharing arrangement. In addition, Union Bank paid the Company approximately $52,000 
and $57,000 during 2010 and 2009, respectively, for health and productivity services and in 2008 Union Bank paid the Company 
approximately $125,000 in consulting fees. 
 
Investment Services 
 
In December 2010, Union Bank established various trusts whereby Union Bank serves as trustee for the purpose of purchasing, 
holding, and selling investments in student loan asset backed securities.  Union Bank and the Company have both invested money into 
the trusts.  As of December 31, 2010 and February 28, 2011, the Company had $4.9 million and $22.9 million, respectively, and Union 
Bank had $28.6 million and $128.8 million, respectively, invested in the trusts.  The Company and Union Bank employ certain 
individuals as dual employees and such employees provide consulting and advisory services to Union Bank as trustee for these trusts, 
and Union Bank has agreed to pay the Company for the share of such employees’ salary and payroll based on the value of such 
services rendered as well as the loss of value of such dual employees’ services to the Company. 
 
401(k) Plan Administer 
 
Union Bank administers the Company’s 401(k) defined contribution plan.  Fees paid to Union Bank to administer the plan are paid by 
the plan participants and were approximately $239,000, $193,000, and $245,000 during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 
and 2008, respectively. 
 
Letter of Credit 
 
As of December 31, 2010, Union Bank has issued a $125,000 letter of credit for the Company’s benefit. Union Bank charged no fee 
for providing this service. 
 
21.  Fair Value  
 
The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.  
   

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:

Investments (a) $ 31,375   —    11,861   43,236   
Fair value of derivative instruments (b) —    118,346   —    118,346   

Total assets $ 31,375   118,346   11,861   161,582   

Liabilities:
Fair value of derivative instruments (b) $ —    16,089   —    16,089   

Total liabilities $ —    16,089   —    16,089   

As of December 31, 2010
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Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:

Fair value of derivative instruments (b) $ —    193,899   193,899   

Total assets $ —    193,899   193,899   

Liabilities:
Fair value of derivative instruments (b) $ —    2,489   2,489   

Total liabilities $ —    2,489   2,489   

As of December 31, 2009

 
(a) Investments represent investments classified by the Company as “trading securities” which are recorded at fair value 

on a recurring basis.  Level 1 investments are measured based upon quoted prices and include investments traded on 
an active exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, and U.S. Treasury securities. Level 3 investments include 
corporate debt securities. The fair value for corporate debt securities is determined using an income approach 
valuation technique (present value using the discount rate adjustment technique) that considers, among other things, 
rates currently observed in publicly traded debt markets for debt of similar terms to companies with comparable 
credit risk. 

 
(b) All derivatives are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis.  The fair values of derivative financial instruments 

are determined by derivative pricing models using the stated terms of the contracts and observable yield curves, 
forward foreign currency exchange rates, and volatilities from active markets.  Fair value of derivative instruments is 
comprised of market value less accrued interest and excludes collateral. 

 
There were no significant transfers into or out of level 1, level 2, or level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
 
The following tables present a roll-forward of the fair value of Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs) assets for the year ended 
December 31, 2010: 

Level 3
Investments -

trading securities

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ —  
Total realized and unrealized gains included in income (a) 150  
Purchases 12,061  
Sales 350  

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 11,861  

Total gains for 2010 included in income attributable to the change in
unrealized gains relating to assets held at December 31, 2010 (a) $ 115   

 
(a) Realized and unrealized gains are included in “other income” in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. 

 
The Company measures certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with GAAP. For the years ended December 
31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, these adjustments to fair value resulted from the write-down to fair value of goodwill, intangible assets, and 
property and equipment. For assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 
and 2008 that were still held on the balance sheet at each respective period end, the following table provides the fair value hierarchy 
and the carrying value of the related individual assets at year end.  
 

2010 2009 2008

Goodwill (a) $ 117,118     143,717     175,178    
Intangible assets (b) 38,712       53,538       77,054      
Property and equipment, net (b) 30,573       26,606       38,747      

$ 186,403   223,861   290,979  

Level 3

 
(a) Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment and whenever triggering events or changes in 

circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. 



NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – (continued) 

(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts, unless otherwise noted) 
 

F-52 

 
(b) Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and purchased intangibles subject to 

amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

 
The following table presents the fair value adjustments included in the consolidated statements of income related to the decrease in 
value of the above assets.  The fair value adjustments were recorded by the Company as impairment charges and are included in 
“impairment expense” in the consolidated statements of income. 
 

2010 2009 2008

Goodwill $ (26,599)      (31,461)      (667)         
Intangible assets —    (1,267)        (13,373)    
Property and equipment, net —    —    (4,794)      

$ (26,599)    (32,728)    (18,834)  

Year ended December 31,

 
The following table summarizes the fair values of all of the Company’s financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet: 

 2010 2009
Fair value Carrying value Fair value Carrying value

Financial assets:
Student loans receivable $ 24,836,538   23,948,014   24,387,267   23,926,957   
Student loans receivable - held for sale 84,987   84,987   —    —    
Cash and cash equivalents 283,801   283,801   338,181   338,181   
Investments - trading 43,236   43,236   —    —    
Restricted cash 453,748   453,748   318,530   318,530   
Restricted cash – due to customers 88,528   88,528   91,741   91,741   
Restricted investments 215,009   215,009   306,962   306,962   
Accrued interest receivable 318,152   318,152   329,313   329,313   
Derivative instruments 118,346   118,346   193,899   193,899   

Financial liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable 24,651,191   24,672,472   24,741,306   24,805,289   
Accrued interest payable 19,153   19,153   19,831   19,831   
Due to customers 88,528   88,528   91,741   91,741   
Derivative instruments 16,089   16,089   2,489   2,489   

As of December 31,

 
 
The methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
are discussed above.  The remaining financial assets and liabilities were estimated using the following methods and assumptions: 
 
Student Loans Receivable and Student Loans Receivable – Held for Sale 
 
The Company’s student loans are accounted for at cost or at the lower of cost or market if the loan is held-for-sale. Student loans 
classified as held for sale are those loans which the Company sold in January 2011 and were valued using the sales price (100% of par 
value) less the estimated credit risk related to this portfolio. The Company retained credit risk related to this portfolio and will pay 
cash to purchase back any loans which become 60 days delinquent. For all other loans, fair values were determined by modeling loan 
cash flows using stated terms of the assets and internally-developed assumptions to determine aggregate portfolio yield, net present 
value, and average life. The significant assumptions used to project cash flows are prepayment speeds, default rates, and future interest 
rates and index relationships. A number of significant inputs into the models are internally derived.  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, Restricted Cash – Due to Customers, Restricted Investments, Accrued Interest 
Receivable/Payable and Due to Customers 
 
The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the variable rate of interest and/or the short maturities of these instruments. 
 
Bonds and Notes Payable 
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The fair value of the bonds and notes payable is based on market prices for securities that possess similar credit risk and interest rate 
risk. 
  
22.  Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

 

First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter

Net interest income $ 85,109  97,414  92,213  96,335  
Less provision for loan losses 5,000  6,200  5,500  6,000  

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 80,109  91,214  86,713  90,335  
Loan and guaranty servicing revenue 36,394  36,652  33,464  33,126  
Tuition payment processing and campus commerce revenue 17,382  12,795  14,527  15,120  
Enrollment services revenue 33,271  35,403  36,439  34,784  
Software services revenue 4,344  5,499  4,624  4,481  
Other income 7,260  8,496  9,432  6,122  
Gain (loss) on sale of loans and debt repurchases, net 10,177  8,759  9,885  49,810  
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put 

option adjustments and derivative settlements, net 1,682  (10,608) (35,391) 33,640  
Salaries and benefits (40,644) (40,962) (41,085) (43,320) 
Litigation settlement —  —  (55,000) —  
Impairment expense —  —  —  (26,599) 
Cost to provide enrollment services (22,025) (24,111) (23,709) (21,802) 
Operating expenses (41,035) (43,148) (40,493) (39,553) 
Income tax (expense) benefit (32,593) (29,996) 226  (51,057) 

Net income (loss) $ 54,322  49,993  (368) 85,087  

Earnings (loss) per common share - basic $ 1.09   1.00   (0.01)  1.76   

Earnings (loss) per common share - dilutive $ 1.08   0.99   (0.01)  1.75   

2010
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First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter

Net interest income $ 28,508  57,107  69,182  80,548  
Less provision for loan losses 7,500  8,000  7,500  6,000  

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 21,008  49,107  61,682  74,548  
Loan and guaranty servicing revenue 26,471  28,803  26,006  27,467  
Tuition payment processing and campus commerce revenue 15,538  11,848  12,987  13,521  
Enrollment services revenue 28,771  28,747  30,670  31,209  
Software services revenue 5,705  6,119  4,600  4,740  
Other income 8,787  5,665  5,846  6,171  
Gain (loss) on sale of loans and debt repurchases, net 7,869  5,666  14,036  49,260  
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put 

option adjustments and derivative settlements, net 19,478  (24,478) 7,740  5,744  
Salaries and benefits (38,226) (38,698) (36,398) (37,963) 
Impairment expense —  —  —  (32,728) 
Cost to provide enrollment services (17,793) (18,092) (20,323) (18,718) 
Operating expenses (36,552) (40,566) (35,941) (33,635) 
Income tax (expense) benefit (15,601) (5,918) (24,501) (30,553) 

Net income (loss) $ 25,455  8,203  46,404  59,063  

Earnings per common share - basic $ 0.51   0.16   0.93   1.18   

Earnings per common share - dilutive $ 0.51   0.16   0.93   1.18   

2009

 
23.  Condensed Parent Company Financial Statements 
 
The following represents the condensed balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and condensed statements of income and 
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 for Nelnet, Inc.  
 
The Company is limited in the amount of funds that can be transferred to it by its subsidiaries through intercompany loans, advances, 
or cash dividends. These limitations relate to the restrictions by trust indentures under the education lending subsidiaries debt 
financing arrangements. The amounts of cash and investments restricted in the respective reserve accounts of the education lending 
subsidiaries are shown on the consolidated balance sheets as restricted cash and investments. 
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2010 2009
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 164,429   120,332   
Investments - trading securities 43,236   —    
Investment in subsidiary debt 257,363   260,418   
Restricted cash 20,604   18,222   
Restricted cash - due to customers 51,257   64,952   
Investment in subsidiaries 1,071,666   1,254,758   
Other assets 108,261   97,668   
Fair value of derivative instruments 23,426   23,923   

Total assets $ 1,740,242   1,840,273   

Liabilities:
Notes payable $ 613,255   956,466   
Notes payable to related party 107,050   —    
Accrued interest payable 3,245   4,329   
Other liabilities 42,713   27,474   
Due to customers 51,257   64,952   
Fair value of derivative instruments 16,089   2,489   

Total liabilities 833,609   1,055,710   

Shareholders' equity:
Common stock 483   499   
Additional paid-in capital 76,263   109,359   
Retained earnings 831,057   676,154   
Employee notes receivable (1,170)  (1,449)  

Total shareholders' equity 906,633   784,563   

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 1,740,242   1,840,273   

Balance Sheets
(Parent Company Only)

Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

 
Statements of Income
(Parent Company Only)

2010 2009 2008

Operating revenues $ 31,846   15,345   132,321   
Operating expenses 5,839   4,428   104,803   

Net operating income 26,007   10,917   27,518   

Net interest income (expense) 5,779   4,680   (8,030)  
Gain on sale of loans and debt repurchases, net 26,129   41,684   1,621   
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments

and derivative settlements, net (21,415)  34,901   14,406   
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 188,738   101,373   5,445   
Income tax expense (36,204)  (54,430)  (14,116)  

Net income from continuing operations 189,034   139,125   26,844   
Income on discontinued operations, net of tax —    —    1,818   

Net income $ 189,034   139,125   28,662   

Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008
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2010 2009 2008

Net income $ 189,034 139,125 28,662
Income from discontinued operations —  —  1,818
Income from continuing operations 189,034 139,125 26,844
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided  

by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization  723 1,264 5,477
Derivative market value adjustment  2,077 (4,207) 13,868
Proceeds from termination of derivative instruments 12,783 3,870 20,368
Payments to terminate derivative instruments (763) (15,069) (16,367)
Impairment expense —  —  2,448
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  (188,738) (101,373) (5,445)
Gain on purchase of debt (26,129) (26,137) —  
Purchase of subsidiary debt, net 3,055 (183,905) (76,513)
Non-cash compensation expense  2,280 2,644 7,320
Other non-cash items  —  —  4,133
Change in investments - trading securities, net (43,236) 3,876 (3,876)
Decrease (increase) in other assets  361,020 310,328 (452,709)
(Decrease) increase in accrued interest payable  (1,084) (903) 79
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  4,922 (47,397) 124,644

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  315,944 82,116 (349,729)
 

Cash flows from investing activities, net of business acquisitions:  
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 11,313 66,769 (151,243)
Purchases of property and equipment, net  —  —  2,510
Capital contributions to/from subsidiary, net —  28,168 12,515
Business acquisition - contingent consideration  —  —  (18,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  11,313 94,937 (154,218)
 

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Payments on notes payable  (317,081) (183,743) (14,550)
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable  —  —  611,500
Payments on notes payable due to a related party (111,675) —  —  
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable due to a related party 218,725 —  —  
Payments of debt issuance costs  —  —  23
Dividends paid (34,131) (3,492) (3,458)
Payment on settlement of put option —  —  (9,600)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  528 449 710
Repurchases of common stock (39,805) (430) (1,536)
Payments received on employee stock notes receivable 279 101 575

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (283,160) (187,115) 583,664
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  44,097 (10,062) 79,717
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  120,332 130,394 50,677
  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 164,429 120,332 130,394
 

Statements of Cash Flows
(Parent Company Only)

Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008
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APPENDIX A 
 

Description of  
The Federal Family Education Loan Program 

 
The Federal Family Education Loan Program 
 
The Higher Education Act provides for a program of federal insurance for student loans as well as reinsurance of student loans 
guaranteed or insured by state agencies or private non-profit corporations.   
 
The Higher Education Act authorizes certain student loans to be insured and reinsured under the Federal Family Education Loan 
Program (“FFELP”).  The Student Aid and Fiscal Responsibility Act, enacted into law on March 30, 2010, as part of the Health Care 
and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, terminated the authority to make FFELP loans.  As of July 1, 2010, no new FFELP loans 
can be disbursed.   
 
Generally, a student was eligible for loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program only if he or she: 
 

• had been accepted for enrollment or was enrolled in good standing at an eligible institution of higher education; 
 

• was carrying or planning to carry at least one-half the normal full-time workload, as determined by the institution, for the 
course of study the student was pursuing; 
 

• was not in default on any federal education loans;  
 

• had not committed a crime involving fraud in obtaining funds under the Higher Education Act which funds had not been 
fully repaid; and 
 

• met other applicable eligibility requirements. 
 

Eligible institutions included higher educational institutions and vocational schools that complied with specific federal regulations.  
Each loan is evidenced by an unsecured note. 
 
The Higher Education Act also establishes maximum interest rates for each of the various types of loans.  These rates vary not only 
among loan types, but also within loan types depending upon when the loan was made or when the borrower first obtained a loan 
under the Federal Family Education Loan Program.  The Higher Education Act allows lesser rates of interest to be charged.  
 
Types of loans 
 
Four types of loans were available under the Federal Family Education Loan Program:  
 

• Subsidized Stafford Loans  
• Unsubsidized Stafford Loans 
• PLUS Loans  
• Consolidation Loans 

 
These loan types vary as to eligibility requirements, interest rates, repayment periods, loan limits, and eligibility for interest subsidies 
and special allowance payments.  Some of these loan types have had other names in the past.  References to these various loan types 
include, where appropriate, their predecessors.   
 
The primary loan under the Federal Family Education Loan Program is the Subsidized Stafford Loan.  Students who were not eligible 
for Subsidized Stafford Loans based on their economic circumstances might have obtained Unsubsidized Stafford Loans.  Graduate or 
professional students and parents of dependent undergraduate students might have obtained PLUS Loans.  Consolidation Loans were 
available to borrowers with existing loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and other federal programs to 
consolidate repayment of the borrower’s existing loans.  Prior to July 1, 1994, the Federal Family Education Loan Program also 
offered Supplemental Loans for Students (“SLS Loans”) to graduate and professional students and independent undergraduate 
students and, under certain circumstances, dependent undergraduate students, to supplement their Stafford Loans.   
 
Subsidized Stafford Loans   
 
General.  Subsidized Stafford Loans are eligible for insurance and reinsurance under the Higher Education Act if the eligible student 
to whom the loan was made was accepted or was enrolled in good standing at an eligible institution of higher education or vocational 
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school and carried at least one-half the normal full-time workload at that institution.  Subsidized Stafford Loans had limits as to the 
maximum amount which could be borrowed for an academic year and in the aggregate for both undergraduate and graduate or 
professional study.  Both annual and aggregate limitations excluded loans made under the PLUS Loan Program.  The Secretary of 
Education had discretion to raise these limits to accommodate students undertaking specialized training requiring exceptionally high 
costs of education. 
 
Subsidized Stafford Loans were made only to student borrowers who met the needs tests provided in the Higher Education Act.  
Provisions addressing the implementation of needs analysis and the relationship between unmet need for financing and the availability 
of Subsidized Stafford Loan Program funding have been the subject of frequent and extensive amendments.   
 
Interest rates for Subsidized Stafford Loans.  For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower (a “new” borrower is defined 
for purposes of this section as one who had no outstanding balance on a Federal Family Education Loan Program loan on the date the 
new promissory note was signed) for a period of enrollment beginning before January 1, 1981, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 
7%.   
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower, for a period of enrollment beginning on or after January 1, 1981, but before 
September 13, 1983, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 9%.   
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower, for a period of enrollment beginning on or after September 13, 1983, but 
before July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 8%. 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a borrower with an outstanding balance on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a 
Stafford Loan, where the new loan is intended for a period of enrollment beginning before July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is 
fixed at 8%.   
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed before October 1, 1992, to a “new” borrower or to a borrower with an outstanding balance on a 
PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not a Stafford Loan, where the new loan is intended for a period of enrollment beginning on 
or after July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is as follows: 
 

• Original fixed interest rate of 8% for the first 48 months of repayment.  Beginning on the first day of the 49th month of 
repayment, the interest rate increased to a fixed rate of 10% thereafter.  Loans in this category were subject to excess 
interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day 
Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.25%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted 
annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for loans in this category is 10%. 

 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 23, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, to a borrower with an outstanding Stafford Loan 
made with a 7%, 8%, 9%, or 8%/10% fixed interest rate, the original, applicable interest rate is the same as the rate provided on the 
borrower’s previous Stafford Loan (i.e., a fixed rate of 7%, 8%, 9%, or 8%/10%).  Loans in this category were subject to excess 
interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill 
auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The 
maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is equal to the loan’s previous fixed rate (i.e., 7%, 8%, 9%, or 10%). 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before December 20, 1993, to a borrower with an outstanding 
balance on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a Stafford Loan, the original, applicable interest rate is fixed at 8%.  
Loans in this category were subject to excess interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond 
equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest 
rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 8%. 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, to a “new” borrower, the applicable interest 
rate is variable and is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding 
June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 
9%. 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after December 20, 1993, but before July 1, 1994, to a borrower with an outstanding balance 
on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a Stafford Loan, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the bond 
equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest 
rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 9%. 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995, where the loan is intended for a period of 
enrollment that includes or begins on or after July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the bond equivalent 
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rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate is 
adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 8.25%. 
 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1995, but before July 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate is as follows: 
 

• When the borrower is in school, in grace, or in an authorized period of deferment, the applicable interest rate is variable 
and is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding 
June 1, plus 2.5%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 8.25%. 
 

• When the borrower is in repayment or in a period of forbearance, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on 
the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  
The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 8.25%. 

 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is as follows: 
 

• When the borrower is in school, in grace, or in an authorized period of deferment, the applicable interest rate is variable 
and is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding 
June 1, plus 1.7%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 8.25%. 
 

• When the borrower is in repayment or in a period of forbearance, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on 
the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 2.3%.  
The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 8.25%. 

 
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 6.80%.  However, for Stafford Loans 
for undergraduates, the applicable interest rate was reduced in phases for which the first disbursement was made on or after: 
 

• July 1, 2008 and before July 1, 2009, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 6.00%, 
 

• July 1, 2009 and before July 1, 2010, the applicable interest rate will be fixed at 5.60%. 
 
Unsubsidized Stafford Loans 
 
General.  The Unsubsidized Stafford Loan program was created by Congress in 1992 for students who did not qualify for Subsidized 
Stafford Loans due to parental and/or student income and assets in excess of permitted amounts.  These students were entitled to 
borrow the difference between the Stafford Loan maximum for their status (dependent or independent) and their Subsidized Stafford 
Loan eligibility through the Unsubsidized Stafford Loan Program.  The general requirements for Unsubsidized Stafford Loans, 
including special allowance payments, are essentially the same as those for Subsidized Stafford Loans.  However, the terms of the 
Unsubsidized Stafford Loans differ materially from Subsidized Stafford Loans in that the federal government will not make interest 
subsidy payments and the loan limitations were determined without respect to the expected family contribution.  The borrower is 
required to either pay interest from the time the loan is disbursed or the accruing interest is capitalized when repayment begins and 
during periods of deferment and forbearance.  Unsubsidized Stafford Loans were not available before October 1, 1992.  A student 
meeting the general eligibility requirements for a loan under the Federal Family Education Loan Program was eligible for an 
Unsubsidized Stafford Loan without regard to need. 
 
Interest rates for Unsubsidized Stafford Loans.  Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are subject to the same interest rate provisions as 
Subsidized Stafford Loans, with the exception of Unsubsidized Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2008, which retain a 
fixed interest rate of 6.80%. 
 
PLUS Loans 
 
General.  PLUS Loans were made to parents, and under certain circumstances spouses of remarried parents, of dependent 
undergraduate students.  Effective July 1, 2006, graduate and professional students were eligible borrowers under the PLUS Loan 
program.  For PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1993, the borrower could not have an adverse credit history as determined by 
criteria established by the Secretary of Education.  The basic provisions applicable to PLUS Loans are similar to those of Stafford 
Loans with respect to the involvement of guarantee agencies and the Secretary of Education in providing federal insurance and 
reinsurance on the loans.  However, PLUS Loans differ significantly, particularly from the Subsidized Stafford Loans, in that federal 
interest subsidy payments are not available under the PLUS Loan Program and special allowance payments are more restricted. 
 
Interest rates for PLUS Loans.  For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after January 1, 1981, but before October 1, 1981, the 
applicable interest rate is fixed at 9%.   
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For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1981, but before November 1, 1982, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 14%.   
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after November 1, 1982, but before July 1, 1987, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 12%.   
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, but before October 1, 1992, the applicable interest 
rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury bill yield for the last calendar week ending on 
or before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.25%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum 
interest rate is 12%.  Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury 
bill auctioned at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.25%.  The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment 
was applicable prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 12%.  PLUS Loans originally made at a fixed interest rate, 
which have been refinanced for purposes of securing a variable interest rate, are subject to the variable interest rate calculation 
described in this paragraph. 
 
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest 
rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or 
before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum 
interest rate is 10%.  Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury 
bill auctioned at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment 
was applicable prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 10%.  
 
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate is 
variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or before 
June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate 
is 9%.  Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury bill auctioned 
at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment was applicable 
prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 9%. 
 
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on 
the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1 of each year, plus 3.1%.  
The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 9%. 
 
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 8.5%. 
 
SLS Loans 
 
General.  SLS Loans were limited to graduate or professional students, independent undergraduate students, and dependent 
undergraduate students, if the students’ parents were unable to obtain a PLUS Loan.  Except for dependent undergraduate students, 
eligibility for SLS Loans was determined without regard to need.  SLS Loans were similar to Stafford Loans with respect to the 
involvement of guarantee agencies and the Secretary of Education in providing federal insurance and reinsurance on the loans.  
However, SLS Loans differed significantly, particularly from Subsidized Stafford Loans, because federal interest subsidy payments 
were not available under the SLS Loan Program and special allowance payments were more restricted.  The SLS Loan Program was 
discontinued on July 1, 1994.  
 
Interest rates for SLS Loans.  The applicable interest rates on SLS Loans made before October 1, 1992, and on SLS Loans originally 
made at a fixed interest rate, which have been refinanced for purposes of securing a variable interest rate, are identical to the 
applicable interest rates described for PLUS Loans made before October 1, 1992. 
 
For SLS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is as follows: 
 

• Beginning July 1, 2001, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant 
maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%.  
The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate is 11%.  Prior to July 1, 2001, SLS 
Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction 
held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment was applicable prior 
to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 11%. 

 
Consolidation Loans 
 
General.  The Higher Education Act authorized a program under which certain borrowers could consolidate their various federally 
insured education loans into a single loan insured and reinsured on a basis similar to Stafford Loans.  Consolidation Loans could be 
obtained in an amount sufficient to pay outstanding principal, unpaid interest, late charges, and collection costs on federally insured or 
reinsured student loans incurred under the Federal Family Education Loan and Direct Loan Programs, including PLUS Loans made to 
the consolidating borrower, as well as loans made under the Perkins Loan (formally National Direct Student Loan Program), Federally 
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Insured Student Loan (FISL), Nursing Student Loan (NSL), Health Education Assistance Loan (HEAL), and Health Professions 
Student Loan (HPSL) Programs.  To be eligible for a FFELP Consolidation Loan, a borrower had to: 
 

• have outstanding indebtedness on student loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and/or certain 
other federal student loan programs; and  
 

• be in repayment status or in a grace period on loans to be consolidated. 
 
Borrowers who were in default on loans to be consolidated had to first make satisfactory arrangements to repay the loans to the 
respective holder(s) or had to agree to repay the consolidating lender under an income-sensitive repayment arrangement in order to 
include the defaulted loans in the Consolidation Loan.  For applications received on or after January 1, 1993, borrowers could add 
additional loans to a Consolidation Loan during the 180-day period following the origination of the Consolidation Loan. 
 
A married couple who agreed to be jointly liable on a Consolidation Loan for which the application was received on or after January 
1, 1993, but before July 1, 2006, was treated as an individual for purposes of obtaining a Consolidation Loan. 
 
Interest rates for Consolidation Loans.  For Consolidation Loans disbursed before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 
the greater of: 
 

• 9%, or 
 

• The weighted average of the interest rates on the loans consolidated, rounded to the nearest whole percent. 
 
For Consolidation Loans disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, based on applications received by the lender before November 13, 1997, 
the applicable interest rate is fixed and is based on the weighted average of the interest rates on the loans consolidated, rounded up to 
the nearest whole percent. 
 
For Consolidation Loans on which the application was received by the lender between November 13, 1997, and September 30, 1998, 
inclusive, the applicable interest rate is variable according to the following: 
 

• For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is comprised of FFELP, Direct, FISL, Perkins, HPSL, or NSL loans, the 
variable interest rate is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned at the final auction 
before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%.  The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted 
annually on July 1.  The maximum interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is 8.25%. 
 

• For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is attributable to HEAL Loans (if applicable), the variable interest rate 
is based on the average of the bond equivalent rates of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned for the quarter ending June 
30, plus 3.0%.  The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted annually on July 1.  There 
is no maximum interest rate for the portion of a Consolidation Loan that is represented by HEAL Loans. 

 
For Consolidation Loans on which the application was received by the lender on or after October 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate 
is determined according to the following: 
 

• For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is comprised of FFELP, Direct, FISL, Perkins, HPSL, or NSL loans, the 
applicable interest rate is fixed and is based on the weighted average of the interest rates on the non-HEAL loans being 
consolidated, rounded up to the nearest one-eighth of one percent.  The maximum interest rate for this portion of the 
Consolidation Loan is 8.25%. 
 

• For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is attributable to HEAL Loans (if applicable), the applicable interest 
rate is variable and is based on the average of the bond equivalent rates of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned for the 
quarter ending June 30, plus 3.0%.  The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted 
annually on July 1.  There is no maximum interest rate for the portion of the Consolidation Loan that is represented by 
HEAL Loans. 

 
For a discussion of required payments that reduce the return on Consolidation Loans, see “Fees – Rebate fee on Consolidation Loans” 
in this Appendix. 
 
Interest rate during active duty 
 
The Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008 revised the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act to include FFEL Program loans.  Interest 
charges on FFEL Program loans are capped at 6% during a period of time on or after August 14, 2008, in which a borrower has served 
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or is serving on active duty in the Armed Forces, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Public Health Services, or 
National Guard.  The interest charge cap includes the interest rate in addition to any fees, service charges, and other charges related to 
the loan.  The cap is applicable to loans made prior to the date the borrower was called to active duty.   
 
Maximum loan amounts 
 
Each type of loan was subject to certain limits on the maximum principal amount, with respect to a given academic year and in the 
aggregate.  Consolidation Loans were limited only by the amount of eligible loans to be consolidated.  PLUS Loans were limited to 
the difference between the cost of attendance and the other aid available to the student.  Stafford Loans, subsidized and unsubsidized, 
were subject to both annual and aggregate limits according to the provisions of the Higher Education Act. 
 
Loan limits for Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans.  Dependent and independent undergraduate students were 
subject to the same annual loan limits on Subsidized Stafford Loans; independent students were allowed greater annual loan limits on 
Unsubsidized Stafford Loans.  A student who had not successfully completed the first year of a program of undergraduate education 
could borrow up to $3,500 in Subsidized Stafford Loans in an academic year.  A student who had successfully completed the first 
year, but who had not successfully completed the second year, could borrow up to $4,500 in Subsidized Stafford Loans per academic 
year.  An undergraduate student who had successfully completed the first and second years, but who had not successfully completed 
the remainder of a program of undergraduate education, could borrow up to $5,500 in Subsidized Stafford Loans per academic year.   
 
Dependent students could borrow an additional $2,000 in Unsubsidized Stafford Loans for each year of undergraduate study.  
Independent students could borrow an additional $6,000 of Unsubsidized Stafford Loans for each of the first two years and an 
additional $7,000 for the third, fourth, and fifth years of undergraduate study.  For students enrolled in programs of less than an 
academic year in length, the limits were generally reduced in proportion to the amount by which the programs were less than one year 
in length.  A graduate or professional student could borrow up to $20,500 in an academic year where no more than $8,500 was 
representative of Subsidized Stafford Loan amounts.     
 
The maximum aggregate amount of Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans, including that portion of a Consolidation 
Loan used to repay such loans, which a dependent undergraduate student may have outstanding is $31,000 (of which only $23,000 
may be Subsidized Stafford Loans).  An independent undergraduate student may have an aggregate maximum of $57,500 (of which 
only $23,000 may be Subsidized Stafford Loans).  The maximum aggregate amount of Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford 
Loans, including the portion of a Consolidation Loan used to repay such loans, for a graduate or professional student, including loans 
for undergraduate education, is $138,000, of which only $65,000 may be Subsidized Stafford Loans.  In some instances, schools could 
certify loan amounts in excess of the limits, such as for certain health profession students. 
 
Loan limits for PLUS Loans.  For PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1993, the annual amounts of PLUS Loans were limited only 
by the student’s unmet need.  There was no aggregate limit for PLUS Loans. 
 
Repayment 
 
Repayment periods.  Loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program, other than Consolidation Loans and loans being 
repaid under an income-based or extended repayment schedule, must provide for repayment of principal in periodic installments over 
a period of not less than five nor more than ten years.  A borrower may request, with concurrence of the lender, to repay the loan in 
less than five years with the right to subsequently extend the minimum repayment period to five years.  Since the 1998 Amendments, 
lenders have been required to offer extended repayment schedules to new borrowers who accumulate outstanding Federal Family 
Education Loan Program Loans of more than $30,000, in which case the repayment period may extend up to 25 years, subject to 
certain minimum repayment amounts.  Consolidation Loans must be repaid within maximum repayment periods which vary 
depending upon the principal amount of the borrower’s outstanding student loans, but may not exceed 30 years.  For Consolidation 
Loans for which the application was received prior to January 1, 1993, the repayment period cannot exceed 25 years.  Periods of 
authorized deferment and forbearance are excluded from the maximum repayment period.  In addition, if the repayment schedule on a 
loan with a variable interest rate does not provide for adjustments to the amount of the monthly installment payment, the maximum 
repayment period may be extended for up to three years. 
 
Repayment of principal on a Stafford Loan does not begin until a student drops below at least a half-time course of study.  For 
Stafford Loans for which the applicable rate of interest is fixed at 7%, the repayment period begins between nine and twelve months 
after the borrower ceases to pursue at least a half-time course of study, as indicated in the promissory note.  For other Stafford Loans, 
the repayment period begins six months after the borrower ceases to pursue at least a half-time course of study.  These periods during 
which payments of principal are not due are the “grace periods.” 
 
In the case of SLS, PLUS, and Consolidation Loans, the repayment period begins on the date of final disbursement of the loan, except 
that the borrower of a SLS Loan who also has a Stafford Loan may postpone repayment of the SLS Loan to coincide with the 
commencement of repayment of the Stafford Loan. 
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During periods in which repayment of principal is required, unless the borrower is repaying under an income-based repayment 
schedule, payments of principal and interest must in general be made at a rate of at least $600 per year, except that a borrower and 
lender may agree to a lesser rate at any time before or during the repayment period.  However, at a minimum, the payments must 
satisfy the interest that accrues during the year.  Borrowers may make accelerated payments at any time without penalty. 
 
Income-sensitive repayment schedule.  Since 1993, lenders have been required to offer income-sensitive repayment schedules, in 
addition to standard and graduated repayment schedules, for Stafford, SLS, and Consolidation Loans.  Beginning in 2000, lenders 
have been required to offer income-sensitive repayment schedules to PLUS borrowers as well.  Use of income-sensitive repayment 
schedules may extend the maximum repayment period for up to five years if the payment amount established from the borrower’s 
income will not repay the loan within the maximum applicable repayment period.  
 
Income-based repayment schedule. Effective July 1, 2009, a borrower in the Federal Family Education Loan Program or Federal 
Direct Loan Program, other than a PLUS Loan made to a parent borrower or any Consolidation Loan that repaid one or more parent 
PLUS loans, may qualify for an income-based repayment schedule regardless of the disbursement dates of the loans if he or she has a 
partial financial hardship.  A borrower has a financial hardship if the annual loan payment amount based on a 10-year repayment 
schedule exceeds 15% of the borrower’s adjusted gross income, minus 150% of the poverty line for the borrower’s actual family size. 
Interest will be paid by the Secretary of Education for subsidized loans for the first three years for any borrower whose scheduled 
monthly payment is not sufficient to cover the accrued interest. Interest will capitalize at the end of the partial financial hardship 
period, or when the borrower begins making payments under a standard repayment schedule. The Secretary of Education will cancel 
any outstanding balance after 25 years if a borrower who has made payments under this schedule meets certain criteria.  
 
Deferment periods.  No principal payments need be made during certain periods of deferment prescribed by the Higher Education 
Act.  For a borrower who first obtained a Stafford or SLS loan which was disbursed before July 1, 1993, deferments are available: 
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a member of the Armed Forces, an officer in the 
Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service or, with respect to a borrower who first obtained a student loan 
disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for a period of enrollment beginning on or after July 1, 1987, an 
active duty member of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Corps;  
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a volunteer under the Peace Corps Act; 
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a full-time paid volunteer under the Domestic Volunteer 
Act of 1973; 
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a full-time volunteer in service which the Secretary of 
Education has determined is comparable to service in the Peace Corp or under the Domestic Volunteer Act of 1970 with 
an organization which is exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; 
 

• during a period not exceeding two years while the borrower is serving an internship necessary to receive professional 
recognition required to begin professional practice or service, or a qualified internship or residency program; 
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is temporarily totally disabled, as established by sworn 
affidavit of a qualified physician, or while the borrower is unable to secure employment because of caring for a 
dependent who is so disabled;  
 

• during a period not exceeding two years while the borrower is seeking and unable to find full-time employment; 
 

• during any period that the borrower is pursuing a full-time course of study at an eligible institution (or, with respect to a 
borrower who first obtained a student loan disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for a period of enrollment 
beginning on or after July 1, 1987, is pursuing at least a half-time course of study); 
 

• during any period that the borrower is pursuing a course of study in a graduate fellowship program;  
 

• during any period the borrower is receiving rehabilitation training services for qualified individuals, as defined by the 
Secretary of Education; 
 

• during a period not exceeding six months while the borrower is on parental leave; and  
 

• only with respect to a borrower who first obtained a student loan disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for 
a period of enrollment beginning on or after July 1, 1987, during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is 
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a full-time teacher in a public or nonprofit private elementary or secondary school in a “teacher shortage area” (as 
prescribed by the Secretary of Education), and during a period not exceeding one year for mothers, with preschool age 
children, who are entering or re-entering the work force and who are paid at a rate of no more than $1 per hour more than 
the federal minimum wage.   

 
For a borrower who first obtained a loan on or after July 1, 1993, deferments are available: 
 

• during any period that the borrower is pursuing at least a half-time course of study at an eligible institution; 
 

• during any period that the borrower is pursuing a course of study in a graduate fellowship program; 
 

• during any period the borrower is receiving rehabilitation training services for qualified individuals, as defined by the 
Secretary of Education; 
 

• during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is seeking and unable to find full-time employment; and  
 

• during a period not exceeding three years for any reason which has caused or will cause the borrower economic hardship.  
Economic hardship includes working full time and earning an amount that does not exceed the greater of the federal 
minimum wage or 150% of the poverty line applicable to a borrower’s family size and state of residence.  Additional 
categories of economic hardship are based on the receipt of payments from a state or federal public assistance program, 
service in the Peace Corps, or until July 1, 2009, the relationship between a borrower’s educational debt burden and his 
or her income.   

 
A borrower serving on active duty during a war or other military operation or national emergency, or performing qualifying National 
Guard duty during a war or other military operation or national emergency may obtain a military deferment. Eligible borrowers may 
receive the deferment for all outstanding Title IV loans in repayment effective October 1, 2007, for all periods of active duty service 
that include that date or begin on or after that date. The deferment period includes the borrower’s service period and 180 days 
following the demobilization date.  
 
A borrower serving on or after October 1, 2007, may receive up to 13 months of active duty student deferment after the completion of 
military service if he or she meets the following conditions:  
 

• is a National Guard member, Armed Forces reserves member, or retired member of the Armed Forces; 
 

• is called or ordered to active duty; and 
 

• is enrolled at the time of, or was enrolled within six months prior to, the activation in a program at an eligible institution.  
 
The active duty student deferment ends the earlier of when the borrower returns to an enrolled status, or at the end of 13 months.  
PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2008, are eligible for the following deferment options: 
 

• A parent PLUS borrower, upon request, may defer the repayment of the loan during any period during which the student 
for whom the loan was borrowed is enrolled at least half time.  Also upon request, the borrower can defer the loan for the 
six-month period immediately following the date on which the student for whom the loan was borrowed ceases to be 
enrolled at least half time, or if the parent borrower is also a student, the date after he or she ceases to be enrolled at least 
half time. 
 

• A graduate or professional student PLUS borrower may defer the loan for the six-month period immediately following 
the date on which he or she ceases to be enrolled at least half time.  This option does not require a request and may be 
granted each time the borrower ceases to be enrolled at least half time. 

 
Prior to the 1992 Amendments, only certain of the deferments described above were available to PLUS and Consolidation Loan 
borrowers.  Prior to the 1986 Amendments, PLUS Loan borrowers were not entitled to certain deferments. 
 
Forbearance periods.  The Higher Education Act also provides for periods of forbearance during which the lender, in case of a 
borrower’s temporary financial hardship, may postpone any payments.  A borrower is entitled to forbearance for a period not 
exceeding three years while the borrower’s debt burden under Title IV of the Higher Education Act (which includes the Federal 
Family Education Loan Program) equals or exceeds 20% of the borrower’s gross income.  A borrower is also entitled to forbearance 
while he or she is serving in a qualifying internship or residency program, a “national service position” under the National and 
Community Service Trust Act of 1993, a qualifying position for loan forgiveness under the Teacher Loan Forgiveness Program, or a 
position that qualifies him or her for loan repayment under the Student Loan Repayment Program administered by the Department of 
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Defense.  In addition, mandatory administrative forbearances are provided in exceptional circumstances such as a local or national 
emergency, a military mobilization, or when the geographical area in which the borrower or endorser resides has been designated a 
disaster area by the President of the United States or Mexico, the Prime Minister of Canada, or by the governor of a state.   
 
Interest payments during grace, deferment, and forbearance periods.  The Secretary of Education makes interest payments on behalf 
of the borrower for certain eligible loans while the borrower is in school and during grace and deferment periods.  Interest that accrues 
during forbearance periods and, if the loan is not eligible for interest subsidy payments, during in-school, grace, and deferment 
periods, may be paid monthly or quarterly by the borrower.  Any unpaid accrued interest may be capitalized by the lender. 
 
Fees 
 
Guarantee fee and Federal default fee.   For loans for which the date of guarantee of principal was on or after July 1, 2006, a 
guarantee agency was required to collect and deposit into the Federal Student Loan Reserve Fund a Federal default fee in an amount 
equal to 1% of the principal amount of the loan.  The fee was collected either by deduction from the proceeds of the loan or by 
payment from other non-Federal sources.  Federal default fees could not be charged to borrowers of Consolidation Loans. 
 
Origination fee. Beginning with loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the maximum origination fee which could be charged to 
a Stafford Loan borrower decreased according to the following schedule: 
 

• 1.5% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement was made on or after July 1, 2007, and before July 1, 2008; 
 

• 1.0% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement was made on or after July 1, 2008, and before July 1, 2009; 
and 
 

• 0.5% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement was made on or after July 1, 2009, and before July 1, 2010. 
 
A lender could charge a lesser origination fee to Stafford Loan borrowers as long as the lender did so consistently with respect to all 
borrowers who resided in or attended school in a particular state.  Regardless of whether the lender passed all or a portion of the 
origination fee on to the borrower, the lender had to pay the origination fee owed on each loan it made to the Secretary of Education. 
An eligible lender was required to charge the borrower of a PLUS Loan an origination fee equal to 3% of the principal amount of the 
loan.  This fee had to be deducted proportionately from each disbursement of the PLUS Loan and had to be remitted to the Secretary 
of Education. 
 
Lender fee.  The lender of any loan made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program was required to pay a fee to the 
Secretary of Education.  For loans made on or after October 1, 2007, the fee was equal to 1.0% of the principal amount of such loan.  
This fee could not be charged to the borrower. 
 
Rebate fee on Consolidation Loans.  The holder of any Consolidation Loan made on or after October 1, 1993, is required to pay to 
the Secretary of Education a monthly rebate fee.  For loans made on or after October 1, 1993, from applications received prior to 
October 1, 1998, and after January 31, 1999, the fee is equal to 0.0875% (1.05% per annum) of the principal and accrued interest on 
the Consolidation Loan.  For loans made from applications received during the period beginning on or after October 1, 1998, through 
January 31, 1999, the fee is 0.0517% (0.62% per annum). 
 
Interest subsidy payments 
 
Interest subsidy payments are interest payments paid on the outstanding principal balance of an eligible loan before the time that the 
loan enters repayment and during deferment periods.  The Secretary of Education and the guarantee agencies enter into interest 
subsidy agreements whereby the Secretary of Education agrees to pay interest subsidy payments on a quarterly basis to the holders of 
eligible guaranteed loans for the benefit of students meeting certain requirements, subject to the holders’ compliance with all 
requirements of the Higher Education Act.  Subsidized Stafford Loans are eligible for interest payments.  Consolidation Loans for 
which the application was received on or after January 1, 1993, are eligible for interest subsidy payments.  Consolidation Loans made 
from applications received on or after August 10, 1993, are eligible for interest subsidy payments only if all underlying loans 
consolidated were Subsidized Stafford Loans.  Consolidation Loans for which the application is received by an eligible lender on or 
after November 13, 1997, are eligible for interest subsidy payments on that portion of the Consolidation Loan that repaid subsidized 
Federal Family Education Loan Program Loans or similar subsidized loans made under the Direct Loan Program.  The portion of the 
Consolidation Loan that repaid HEAL Loans is not eligible for interest subsidy, regardless of the date the Consolidation Loan was 
made. 
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Special allowance payments 
 
The Higher Education Act provides for special allowance payments (SAP) to be made by the Secretary of Education to eligible 
lenders.  The rates for special allowance payments are based on formulas that differ according to the type of loan, the date the loan 
was originally made or insured, and the type of funds used to finance the loan (taxable or tax-exempt). 
 
Stafford Loans.  The effective formulas for special allowance payment rates for Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans 
are summarized in the following chart.  The T-Bill Rate mentioned in the chart refers to the average of the bond equivalent yield of the 
91-day Treasury bills auctioned during the preceding quarter. 
 
Date of Loans Annualized SAP Rate 
On or after October 1, 1981 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.5% 
On or after November 16, 1986 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.25% 
On or after October 1, 1992 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1% 
On or after July 1, 1995 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1%(1) 
On or after July 1, 1998 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 2.8%(2) 
On or after January 1, 2000  3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable Interest 

Rate + 2.34%(3) 
On or after October 1, 2007 and held by a Department of 
Education certified not-for-profit holder or Eligible 
Lender Trustee holding on behalf of a Department of 
Education certified not-for-profit entity 

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable Interest 
Rate + 1.94%(4) 

All other loans on or after October 1, 2007 3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable Interest 
Rate + 1.79%(5) 

 

(1) Substitute 2.5% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace, or deferment status 
(2) Substitute 2.2% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace, or deferment status. 
(3) Substitute 1.74% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace, or deferment status. 
(4) Substitute 1.34% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace, or deferment status. 
(5) Substitute 1.19% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace, or deferment status. 

 
PLUS, SLS, and Consolidation Loans.  The formula for special allowance payments on PLUS, SLS, and Consolidation Loans are as 
follows: 
 
Date of Loans Annualized SAP Rate 
On or after October 1, 1992 T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1% 
On or after January 1, 2000 3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable 

Interest Rate + 2.64% 
PLUS loans on or after October 1, 2007 and held by a 
Department of Education certified not-for-profit holder 
or Eligible Lender Trustee holding on behalf of a 
Department of Education certified not-for-profit entity 

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable 
Interest Rate + 1.94% 

All other PLUS loans on or after October 1, 2007 3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable 
Interest Rate + 1.79% 

Consolidation loans on or after October 1, 2007 and held 
by a Department of Education certified not-for-profit 
holder or Eligible Lender Trustee holding on behalf of a 
Department of Education certified not-for-profit entity 

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable 
Interest Rate + 2.24% 

All other Consolidation loans on or after October 1, 
2007 

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable 
Interest Rate + 2.09% 

 
For PLUS and SLS Loans made prior to July 1, 1994, and PLUS loans made on or after July 1, 1998, which bear interest at rates 
adjusted annually, special allowance payments are made only in quarters during which the interest rate ceiling on such loans operates 
to reduce the rate that would otherwise apply based upon the applicable formula.  See “Interest Rates for PLUS Loans” and “Interest 
Rates for SLS Loans.”  Special allowance payments are available on variable rate PLUS Loans and SLS Loans made on or after July 
1, 1987, and before July 1, 1994, and on any PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1998, and before January 1, 2000, only if the 
variable rate, which is reset annually, based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for loans made before 
July 1, 1998, and based on the 91-day or 52-week Treasury bill, as applicable for loans made on or after July 1, 1998, exceeds the 
applicable maximum borrower rate.  The maximum borrower rate is between 9% and 12% per annum.  The portion, if any, of a 
Consolidation Loan that repaid a HEAL Loan is ineligible for special allowance payments.   
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Recapture of excess interest.  The Higher Education Reconciliation Act of 2005 provides that, with respect to a loan for which the 
first disbursement of principal was made on or after April 1, 2006, if the applicable interest rate for any three-month period exceeds 
the special allowance support level applicable to the loan for that period, an adjustment must be made by calculating the excess 
interest and crediting such amounts to the Secretary of Education not less often than annually.  The amount of any adjustment of 
interest for any quarter will be equal to: 
 

• the applicable interest rate minus the special allowance support level for the loan, multiplied by 
 

• the average daily principal balance of the loan during the quarter, divided by 
 

• four. 
 
Special allowance payments for loans financed by tax-exempt bonds.  The effective formulas for special allowance payment rates for 
Stafford Loans and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans differ depending on whether loans to borrowers were acquired or originated with the 
proceeds of tax-exempt obligations.  The formula for special allowance payments for loans financed with the proceeds of tax-exempt 
obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993 is:  
 

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.5% 
2 

 
provided that the special allowance applicable to the loans may not be less than 9.5% less the Applicable Interest Rate.  Special rules 
apply with respect to special allowance payments made on loans 
 

• originated or acquired with funds obtained from the refunding of tax-exempt obligations issued prior to October 1, 1993, 
or 
 

• originated or acquired with funds obtained from collections on other loans made or purchased with funds obtained from 
tax-exempt obligations initially issued prior to October 1, 1993. 

 
Amounts derived from recoveries of principal on loans eligible to receive a minimum 9.5% special allowance payment may only be 
used to originate or acquire additional loans by a unit of a state or local government, or non-profit entity not owned or controlled by or 
under common ownership of a for-profit entity and held directly or through any subsidiary, affiliate or trustee, which entity has a total 
unpaid balance of principal equal to or less than $100,000,000 on loans for which special allowances were paid in the most recent 
quarterly payment prior to September 30, 2005.  Such entities may originate or acquire additional loans with amounts derived from 
recoveries of principal until December 31, 2010.  Loans acquired with the proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally issued after 
October 1, 1993, receive special allowance payments made on other loans.  Beginning October 1, 2006, in order to receive 9.5% 
special allowance payments, a lender must undergo an audit arranged by the Secretary of Education attesting to proper billing for 
9.5% payments on only eligible “first generation” and “second generation” loans.  First generation loans include those loans acquired 
using funds directly from the issuance of the tax-exempt obligation.  Second-generation loans include only those loans acquired using 
funds obtained directly from first-generation loans.  Furthermore, the lender must certify compliance of its 9.5% billing on such loans 
with each request for payment. 
 
Adjustments to special allowance payments.  Special allowance payments and interest subsidy payments are reduced by the amount 
which the lender is authorized or required to charge as an origination fee.  In addition, the amount of the lender origination fee is 
collected by offset to special allowance payments and interest subsidy payments.  The Higher Education Act provides that if special 
allowance payments or interest subsidy payments have not been made within 30 days after the Secretary of Education receives an 
accurate, timely, and complete request, the special allowance payable to the lender must be increased by an amount equal to the daily 
interest accruing on the special allowance and interest subsidy payments due the lender. 
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April 15, 2011 

 

 

 

Dear Shareholder: 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to invite you to Nelnet, Inc.‘s Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting on 

Thursday, May 26, 2011 at the Embassy Suites, 1040 P Street, Lincoln, Nebraska at 8:30 a.m., Central Time.  The 

notice of the meeting and proxy statement on the following pages contain information about the meeting. 

 

Your participation in the Annual Meeting is important.  We hope that you will be able to attend the meeting and 

encourage you to read our annual report and proxy statement.  At the meeting, members of the Company‘s management 

team will discuss the Company‘s results of operations and business plans and will be available to answer your 

questions.  Regardless of whether you plan to attend, we urge you to vote your proxy at your earliest convenience.   

 

Thank you for your support of Nelnet, Inc. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

            
Michael S. Dunlap 

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 
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Nelnet, Inc. 
121 South 13

th
 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

 

 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 
 

                                       

April 15, 2011 

 

 

TIME AND DATE  8:30 a.m., Central Time, on Thursday, May 26, 2011 

 

PLACE    Embassy Suites 

    1040 P Street 

    Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

 

ITEMS OF BUSINESS (1)  To elect eight directors nominated by the Board of Directors to serve until the   

        2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

 (2)  To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company‘s independent  

        registered public accounting firm for 2011 

 (3)  To conduct an advisory vote on executive compensation 

 (4)  To conduct an advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on  

                                                                               executive compensation 

 (5)  To transact such other business if properly introduced 

 

RECORD DATE You can vote if you were a shareholder as of the close of business on  

March 30, 2011. 

 

OTHER INFORMATION The 2011 Letter to Shareholders from the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief 

Executive Officer and our 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which are not part of the 

proxy soliciting materials, are enclosed. 

PROXY VOTING The Board of Directors solicits your proxy and asks you to vote your proxy at your 

earliest convenience to be sure your vote is received and counted.  Instructions on how to 

vote are contained in our proxy statement and in the Notice of Internet Availability of 

Proxy Materials.  The Board of Directors encourages you to attend the meeting in person.  

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we ask you to vote over the Internet 

as described in those materials as promptly as possible in order to make sure that 

your shares will be voted in accordance with your wishes at the meeting.  

Alternatively, if you requested a copy of the proxy/voting instruction card by mail, 

you may mark, sign, date, and return the proxy/voting instruction card in the 

envelope provided.  If you attend the meeting, you may vote by proxy or you may 

revoke your proxy and cast your vote in person.  We recommend you vote by proxy even 

if you plan to attend the meeting. 

 

 

By Order of the Board of Directors, 

 
William J. Munn 

Corporate Secretary 

Nelnet, Inc. 
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Nelnet, Inc. 

121 South 13
th

 Street  

Suite 201 

Lincoln, Nebraska  68508 

 

PROXY STATEMENT 

 

General Information 

 

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of Nelnet, Inc. (the 

―Company‖) for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the ―Annual Meeting‖) to be held on Thursday, May 26, 2011, at 8:30 

a.m., Central Time, at the Embassy Suites, 1040 P Street, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508. The Annual Meeting will be held for the purposes 

set forth in the notice of such Annual Meeting on the cover page hereof.   

 

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the  

2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 26, 2011 

 

Our notice of annual meeting and proxy statement, 2010 annual report on Form 10-K, letter to shareholders, electronic proxy 

card, and other annual meeting materials are available on the Internet at www.proxyvote.com.  We intend to begin mailing our 

Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to shareholders on or about April 15, 2011.  At that time, we also will begin mailing 

paper copies of our proxy materials to shareholders who requested them.  Additional information on how these materials will be 

distributed is provided below. 

 

Under U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the ―SEC‖) rules, we are allowed to mail a notice to our shareholders informing 

them that our proxy statement, annual report on Form 10-K, electronic proxy card, and related materials are available for viewing, free 

of charge, on the Internet.  Shareholders may then access these materials and vote their shares over the Internet, or request delivery of 

a full set of proxy materials by mail or email.  We are utilizing this process for the 2011 Annual Meeting.  We intend to begin mailing 

the required notice, called the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, to shareholders on or about April 15, 2011.  The 

proxy materials will be posted on the Internet, at www.proxyvote.com, no later than the day we begin mailing the Notice.  If you 

receive a Notice, you will not receive a paper or email copy of the proxy materials unless you request one in the manner set forth in 

the Notice. 

The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials contains important information, including: 

 The date, time, and location of the Annual Meeting 

 A brief description of the matters to be voted on at the meeting 

 A list of the proxy materials available for viewing at www.proxyvote.com and the control number you will need to use to 

access the site 

 Instructions on how to access and review the proxy materials online, how to vote your shares over the Internet, and how 

to get a paper or email copy of the proxy materials if that is your preference 

These rules give us the opportunity to serve shareholders more efficiently by making the proxy materials available online and reducing 

the environmental impact and costs associated with printing and physical delivery. 

You may vote in person at the Annual Meeting or you may vote by proxy.  To obtain directions to attend the Annual Meeting and vote 

in person, please call 402-458-3038. Giving the Board of Directors your proxy means that you authorize representatives of the Board 

to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting in the manner you specify.  We recommend that you vote by proxy even if you plan to 

attend the Annual Meeting.  If your share ownership is registered directly, you may refer to voting instructions contained in this proxy 

statement and in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.  If your share ownership is beneficial (that is, your shares are 

held in the name of a bank, broker, or other nominee, referred to as being held in ―street name‖), your broker will issue you a voting 

instruction form that you use to instruct them how to vote your shares.  Your broker must follow your voting instructions.  Although 

most brokers and nominees offer mail, telephone, and Internet voting, availability and specific procedures will depend on their voting 

arrangements. 
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Your vote is important.  For this reason, the Board of Directors is requesting that you permit your common stock to be voted by proxy 

at the Annual Meeting.  This Proxy Statement contains important information for you to consider when deciding how to vote on the 

matters brought before the Annual Meeting.  Please read it carefully.   

 

VOTING 

 

Who Can Vote 

 

You may vote if you owned Nelnet, Inc. Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, or Class B common stock, par value $0.01 

per share, as of the close of business on March 30, 2011 (the ―record date‖).  At the close of business on March 30, 2011, 37,003,992 

and 11,495,377 shares of the Company‘s Class A and Class B common stock, respectively, were outstanding and eligible to vote.  The 

Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ―NNI.‖  The Class B common stock is not listed 

on any exchange or market.  At the Annual Meeting, each Class A and Class B shareholder will be entitled to one and 10 vote(s), 

respectively, in person or by proxy, for each share of Class A and Class B common stock, respectively, owned of record at the close of 

business on March 30, 2011.  The stock transfer books of the Company will not be closed.  The Secretary of the Company will make a 

complete record of the shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting available for inspection by any shareholder ten days prior to 

the date of the Annual Meeting at its headquarters in Lincoln, Nebraska at any time during usual business hours.  Such records will 

also be available for inspection at the Annual Meeting.   

 

As a matter of policy, the Company keeps private all proxies, ballots, and voting tabulations that identify individual shareholders.  

Such documents are available for examination only by certain representatives associated with processing proxy voting instructions and 

tabulating the vote.  No vote of any shareholder is disclosed, except as may be necessary to meet legal requirements. 

 

How You Vote 

 

You may vote your shares prior to the Annual Meeting by following the instructions provided in the Notice of Internet Availability of 

Proxy Materials, this proxy statement, and the voter website, www.proxyvote.com.  If you requested a paper copy of the proxy 

materials, voting instructions are also contained on the proxy card enclosed with those materials. 

 If you are a registered shareholder, there are three ways to vote your shares before the meeting: 

 By Internet (www.proxyvote.com):  Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions until 11:59 p.m. EDT 

on May 25, 2011.  Have your Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials with you when you access the 

website and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form. 

 By mail: You can vote by mail by requesting a paper copy of the materials, which will include a voting 

instruction form. There is no charge for requesting a copy. To be valid, proxy cards must be received before the 

start of the Annual Meeting. If you want to receive a paper or e-mail copy of the proxy materials, please choose 

one of the following methods to make your request: 

 

 By internet: www.proxyvote.com 

 By telephone: 1-800-579-1639 

 By e-mail*: sendmaterial@proxyvote.com 

 

* If requesting materials by e-mail, please send a blank e-mail with your 12-Digit Control Number in the 

subject line. 

 

By telephone (1-800-690-6903):  Use any touch-tone phone to transmit your voting instructions until          

11:59 p.m. EDT on  May 25, 2011.  Have your proxy card with you when you call and follow the instructions.   

  

 If your shares are held in street name, your broker, bank, or other holder of record may provide you with a Notice of 

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.  Follow the instructions on the Notice to access our proxy materials and 

vote online or to request a paper or e-mail copy of our proxy materials.  If you received these materials in paper 

form, the materials included a voting instruction card so you can instruct your broker, bank, or other holder of record 

how to vote your shares. 

 



                     

                                         

3 

You may vote your shares at the Annual Meeting.  If you are a registered shareholder, you can vote at the meeting any shares that 

were registered in your name as the shareholder of record as of the record date.  If your shares are held in street name, you are not a 

holder of record of those shares and cannot vote them at the Annual Meeting unless you have a legal proxy from the holder of record.  

If you plan to attend and vote your street name shares at the Annual Meeting, you should request a legal proxy from your broker, 

bank, or other holder of record and bring it with you to the meeting along with proof of identification. 

If you plan to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting, please pick up a ballot at the registration table upon your arrival.  You may then 

submit your ballot to a meeting usher at the time designated during the meeting.  Ballots will not be distributed during the meeting.  

Shares may not be voted after the final vote at the meeting. 

Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we encourage you to vote your shares by proxy.   

 

What Items Require Your Vote 

 

There are four proposals that will be presented for your consideration at the meeting: 

 

 Electing the eight nominees named in this proxy statement to the Board of Directors for a term of one year 

 

 Ratifying the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company‘s independent registered public accounting firm 

(―independent auditor‖) for 2011 

 

 Approving the advisory resolution on executive compensation 

 

 Recommending the frequency of future shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation 

 

Each of the proposals has been submitted on behalf of the Company‘s Board of Directors.   

 

How You Can Change Your Vote 

 

If you are a registered shareholder, you can revoke your proxy and change your vote prior to the Annual Meeting by: 

 Sending a written notice of revocation to our Corporate Secretary at 121 South 13
th

 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 

68508 (the notification must be received by the close of business on May 25, 2011) 

 Voting again by Internet prior to 11:59 p.m. EDT on May 25, 2011 (only the latest vote you submit will be counted) 

 Submitting a new properly signed and dated paper proxy card with a later date (your proxy card must be received before 

the start of the Annual Meeting) 

If your shares are held in street name, you should contact your broker, bank, or other holder of record about revoking your voting 

instructions and changing your vote prior to the meeting. 

If you are eligible to vote at the Annual Meeting, you also can revoke your proxy or voting instructions and change your vote at the 

Annual Meeting by submitting a written ballot before the final vote at the meeting.  Your attendance at the Annual Meeting will not 

automatically revoke your proxy; you must specifically revoke your proxy. 

Quorum Needed To Hold the Meeting 

 

In order to conduct the Annual Meeting, a majority of the Company‘s outstanding shares entitled to vote must be present in person or 

by proxy.  This is called a quorum.  If you return valid proxy instructions or vote in person at the Annual Meeting, your shares will be 

considered part of the quorum.  Abstentions and broker ―non-votes‖ will be counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes 

of determining a quorum.  New York Stock Exchange rules allow banks, brokers, and other nominees to vote shares held by 

them for a customer on matters that the New York Stock Exchange determines to be routine, even though the bank, broker, or 

nominee has not received voting instructions from the customer.  A broker ―non-vote‖ occurs when a bank, broker, or other 

nominee has not received voting instructions from the customer and the bank, broker, or other nominee cannot vote the shares 

because the matter is not considered to be routine under New York Stock Exchange rules.   
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Under New York Stock Exchange rules, the election of directors, the advisory vote on executive compensation, and the 

advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation will not be considered to be ―routine‖ 

matters, and banks, brokers, and other nominees who are members of the New York Stock Exchange will not be permitted to 

vote shares held by them for a customer on these matters without instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares.  

 

Counting Your Vote 

 

If you provide specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as instructed.  If you hold shares in your name and submit a valid 

proxy without giving specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as recommended by our Board of Directors.  If you hold 

your shares in your name and do not return valid proxy instructions or do not vote in person at the Annual Meeting, your shares will 

not be voted.  If you hold your shares in the name of a bank, broker, or other nominee, and you do not give that nominee instructions 

on how you want your shares to be voted, the nominee has the authority to vote your shares on the ratification of the appointment of 

KPMG LLP as independent auditor.  However, as previously discussed, the nominee will not be permitted to vote your shares on the 

election of directors, the advisory vote on executive compensation, or the advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on 

executive compensation. 

 

Giving the Board your proxy also means that you authorize their representatives to vote on any other matter that may be properly 

presented at the Annual Meeting in such manner as they determine best.  The Company does not know of any other matters to be 

presented at the Annual Meeting as of the date of this Proxy Statement.   

 

What Vote is Needed 
 

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that directors are elected by a majority of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote at the 

Annual Meeting.  Although abstentions and broker ―non-votes‖ will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum 

(as discussed previously), they will not be counted as votes cast in the election of directors and thus will not have the effect of votes 

for or against any director. 

 

With respect to the election of directors, shareholders of the Company, or their proxy if one is appointed, have cumulative voting 

rights under the laws of the State of Nebraska.  That is, shareholders, or their proxy, may vote their shares for as many directors as are 

to be elected, or may cumulate such shares and give one nominee as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by 

the number of their shares, or may distribute votes on the same principle among as many nominees as they may desire.  If a 

shareholder desires to vote cumulatively, he or she must vote in person or give his or her specific cumulative voting instructions to the 

designated proxy that the number of votes represented by his or her shares are to be cast for one or more designated nominees.  

Cumulative voting is not available for internet voting. 

 

A majority of votes cast at the meeting is required to approve Proposals 2 and 3 (ratifying the appointment of KPMG LLP, and 

approving the advisory resolution on executive compensation, respectively).  Although abstentions and broker ―non-votes‖ will be 

counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum (as discussed previously), they will not be counted as votes cast with 

respect to Proposals 2 and 3 and thus will not have the effect of votes for or against Proposals 2 and 3. 

 

With respect to Proposal 4 (the advisory vote on the frequency of future shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation), 

shareholders may indicate which of three frequency options (every one year, every two years, or every three years) they prefer, or they 

may abstain from casting a vote on this proposal.  Generally, approval of a matter presented to our shareholders requires a majority of 

votes cast at the meeting.  However, because Proposal 4 is advisory and non-binding, if none of the frequency options receives a 

majority of the votes cast, the option receiving the greatest number of votes will be considered the frequency recommended by our 

shareholders.  Although abstentions and broker ―non-votes‖ will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum (as 

discussed previously), they will not be counted as votes cast with respect to Proposal 4 and thus will not have an effect on the 

determination of the frequency option recommended by our shareholders. 

 

Voting Recommendations 

 

The Company‘s Board of Directors recommends that you vote: 

 

 ―FOR‖ each of the nominees to the Board of Directors 

 

 ―FOR‖ ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company‘s independent registered public accounting firm 

for 2011 
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 ―FOR‖ the approval of the compensation of the Company‘s named executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy 

Statement 

 

 ―EVERY ONE YEAR‖ (as opposed to every two years or every three years) as the preferred frequency for future 

advisory votes on executive compensation 

 

A proxy, when properly executed and not revoked, will be voted in accordance with the authorization and instructions contained 

therein.  Unless a shareholder specifies otherwise, all shares represented will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Company‘s Board of Directors.   

 

Voting Results 

 

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting.  The final voting results will be reported in a current report 

on Form 8-K to be filed within four business days after the Annual Meeting date.     

 

Cost of This Proxy Solicitation 

 

The Company will pay the cost of soliciting proxies, including the preparation, assembly, and furnishing of proxy solicitation and 

other required annual meeting materials.  Directors, officers, and regular employees of the Company may solicit proxies by telephone, 

electronic communications, or personal contact, for which they will not receive any additional compensation in respect of such 

solicitations.  The Company will also reimburse brokerage firms and others for all reasonable expenses for furnishing proxy 

solicitation and other required annual meeting materials to beneficial owners of the Company's stock. 

 

PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS  

 

Nominees 

 

Shareholders are asked to elect eight directors to serve on the Board for a one-year term or until their successors are elected or 

appointed. 

 

Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board, the Board has nominated each of 

the current directors for reelection. 

 

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of each nominee (named below) to the Board of 

Directors.   

 

In the event that any nominee becomes unavailable for election for any reason, the shares represented by proxy will be voted for any 

substitute nominees designated by the Board, unless the proxy does not indicate that the shares are to be voted for all nominees. The 

Board of Directors knows of no reason why any of the persons nominated to be directors might be unable to serve if elected, and each 

nominee has consented to and expressed an intention to serve if elected. There are no arrangements or understandings between any of 

the nominees and any other person pursuant to which any of the nominees was selected as a nominee. 

 

Following are the names of the eight nominees to serve as director, together with: their ages, the year during which they were first 

elected a director of the Company, their principal occupation(s) and any other directorships with publicly-held companies (if 

applicable) during the past five years, and each nominee‘s qualifications to serve as a director. 
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Michael S. Dunlap, 47 

Director since       

January 1996 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Nelnet, Inc.                

 Chairman, Nelnet, Inc., March 2000 to present; Chief Executive Officer, May 2007 to present 

and December 2001 – August 2003; Co-Chief Executive Officer, August 2003 – May 2007; 

President, December 2001 – August 2003; Chairman of the Company‘s predecessor in interest, 

January 1996 – March 2000 

 Co-President and Director, Farmers & Merchants Investment Inc. (―F&M‖), the parent of Union 

Bank and Trust Company (―Union Bank‖), January 2007 – present; President and Director, 

January 1995 – January 2007 (F&M is an affiliate of the Company) 

 Non-Executive Chairman, Union Bank, August 2003 – November 2008; Chief Executive Officer, 

January 2001 – August 2003; Executive Vice President, January 1993 – January 2001 (Union 

Bank is an affiliate of the Company) 

 

Mr. Dunlap‘s qualifications include more than 25 years of experience in the areas of banking and 

financial services, leadership, strategic operations, and management, including as one of our co-

founders and our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman since the Company‘s inception, as well as 

his experience as a member of the boards of directors of numerous other private organizations.  Mr. 

Dunlap‘s knowledge of every part of our business and his intense focus on innovation and 

excellence are keys to our Board‘s success. 

 

Stephen F. Butterfield, 58 

Director since  

January 1996 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vice-Chairman, Nelnet, Inc. 

 Vice-Chairman, Nelnet, Inc., March 2000 – present; Co-Chief Executive Officer, August 2003 – 

May 2007; Vice-Chairman of the Company‘s predecessor in interest, January 1996 – March 2000 

 President, Student Loan Acquisition Authority of Arizona, January 1989 – February 2000 

 

Mr. Butterfield‘s qualifications include more than 35 years of experience in the areas of student 

loans, capital markets, and municipal finance, including as one of our co-founders and a member of 

our Board since the Company‘s inception, as well as his knowledge and understanding of 

leadership and organizational dynamics. 

 

James P. Abel, 60 
Director since  

August 2003 

 

Chief Executive Officer, NEBCO, Inc. 

 Chief Executive Officer, NEBCO, Inc., a company with interests in the manufacture of concrete 

building materials, road construction, insurance, mining, railroading, farming, and real estate, 

2004 – present; President and Chief Executive Officer, 1983 – 2004  

 Chairman of the Board of Directors, UNIFI Mutual Holding Company; Director, Ameritas 

Holding Company and Ameritas Life Insurance Corp. UNIFI Mutual Holding Company is the 

parent company and owns Ameritas Holding Company. Ameritas Holding Company, in turn, 

owns 100 percent of the stock of Ameritas Life Insurance Corp. These entities offer a wide range 

of insurance and financial products and services to individuals, families, and businesses.  

 

Mr. Abel‘s qualifications include his experience on boards of directors of other private companies 

and his demonstrated executive leadership abilities and management experience as Chief Executive 

Office of a complex diversified organization, as well as his knowledge of operations, all of which 

give him critical insights into the operational requirements of the Company. 

 

Kathleen A. Farrell, 47 

Director since  

October 2007 

 

Professor of Finance and Associate Dean of Academic Programs, University of Nebraska-

Lincoln  

 Professor of Finance, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, August 2009 – present 

 Associate Dean of Academic Programs, August 2010 - present 

 Associate Professor of Finance, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, 2002 – July 2009 

 Assistant Professor of Finance, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, August 1993 – 2001 

 

Dr. Farrell‘s qualifications include her expertise in corporate finance, executive turnover, and 

executive compensation, and her prior experience as an auditor at a public accounting firm.  Dr. 

Farrell has achieved designation as a Certified Public Accountant (inactive), has nearly 18 years 

experience teaching university courses in the areas of banking and finance, and has conducted 

extensive research on these topics.  Dr. Farrell has also published articles on these topics in 

numerous scholarly journals. 

Name, Age, and     

Service as a Director                   Principal Occupation(s), Other Directorships, and Qualifications            
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Thomas E. Henning, 58 

Director since 

August 2003 

 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Assurity Security Group, Inc. and its subsidiary, 

Assurity Life Insurance Company 

 President and Chief Executive Officer, Assurity Security Group, Inc. and its subsidiary, Assurity 

Life Insurance Company, which offers a variety of disability income and critical illness 

protection, life insurance, and annuity products, 1990 – present  

 Director, Federal Home Loan Bank Topeka, March 2007 – present. The Federal Home Loan 

Bank Topeka is part of the 12 member Federal Home Loan Bank system. The bank serves the 

states of Oklahoma, Kansas, Nebraska, and Colorado and provides liquidity to member 

institutions to assist in financing real estate. 

 Director, Assurity Advisors (previously named Pine Lake Advisors), a registered investment 

advisory company, January 1998 – April 2008 

 

Mr. Henning‘s qualifications include over 20 years of experience as President and Chief Executive 

Officer of a large insurance company, his prior experience as President of a regional bank, his 

financial expertise, including being a Certified Financial Analyst, his experience in risk assessment 

and management, and his vast knowledge and experience in leadership and management. 

 

Brian J. O’Connor, 55 

Director since 

August 2003 

Senior Vice-President, Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co. 

 Senior Vice-President, Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co., which underwrites and trades 

securities for various local governments, 1997 – present 

 

Mr. O‘Connor‘s qualifications include over 25 years of experience in investment banking, public 

and structured finance, his extensive knowledge of financial and accounting matters, which 

allowed him to acquire numerous securities licenses, and his past experience as a board member 

and committee chair of another public company. 

 

Kimberly K. Rath, 50 

Director since 

October 2007 

 

Managing Director and President, Talent Plus, Inc. 

 Managing Director and President, Talent Plus, Inc., a global human resources consulting firm, 

July 1989 – present 

 Senior Consultant, The Gallup Organization, 1982 – 1989 

 

Ms. Rath‘s qualifications include almost 30 years of experience in the field of human resources, 

with expertise in executive development, employee engagement, and human capital management.  

Ms. Rath also has 22 years of experience leading an international executive management 

consulting and training organization, working with major global companies.  Ms. Rath serves as an 

executive strategic advisor to many leaders across the globe in both private and public sectors.  Ms. 

Rath‘s experience and perspectives are unique among our Board members. 

 

Michael D. Reardon, 58 

Director since  

December 2003 

Chief Executive Officer, Provision Communications, LLC  

 Chief Executive Officer, Provision Communications, LLC, a telecommunications company, 

January 2004 – present 

 Chairman, Geos Communications, Inc., a publicly traded mobile communications company, 

March 2010 – present; Director, June 2009 – February 2010 

 Director, HyperFlo, LLC, a manufacturer of precision cleaning equipment, January 2010 – 

present; Chairman, 1997 – 2009 

 

Mr. Reardon‘s qualifications include 35 years of experience starting and building companies from 

the ground up, providing strategy, leadership, business development, and management expertise, 

and dealing with financial and operational issues in challenging environments.  Through his roles 

as an executive officer and Chairman of such companies, and his experience on the board of 

directors and board committees of other public companies, Mr. Reardon provides valuable and 

unique insights. 

 

Name, Age, and     

Service as a Director                   Principal Occupation(s), Other Directorships, and Qualifications            
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Officers, and Employees    

The Company has a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of the Company‘s directors, officers, and 

employees, including the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and is designed to promote ethical and 

legal conduct.  Among other items, the code addresses the ethical handling of actual or potential conflicts of interest, compliance with 

laws, accurate financial reporting, and procedures for promoting compliance with, and reporting violations of, the code.  This code is 

available on the Company‘s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ and is available in print to any 

shareholder who requests it. 

Board Composition and Director Independence  

The Board of Directors is composed of a majority of independent directors as defined by the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. 

A director does not qualify as an independent director unless the Board has determined, pursuant to applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements, that such director has no material relationship with the Company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder, or officer 

of an organization that has a relationship with the Company).  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews 

compliance with the definition of ―independent‖ director annually.  Mr. Dunlap beneficially owns 67% of the combined voting power 

of the Company‘s shareholders.  Because of his beneficial ownership, Mr. Dunlap can effectively elect each member of the Board of 

Directors and has the power to defeat or remove each member of the Board of Directors.   

In 2010, the Board evaluated commercial, consulting, charitable, familial, and other relationships with each of its directors and entities 

with respect to which they are an executive officer, partner, member, and/or significant shareholder.  As part of this evaluation, the 

Board noted that none of the directors received any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fees from the Company (other than for 

services as a director) or is a partner, member, or principal of an entity that provided accounting, consulting, legal, investment 

banking, financial, or other advisory services to the Company.  Based on this independence review and evaluation, and on other facts 

and circumstances the Board deemed relevant, the Board, in its business judgment, determined that all of the Company‘s directors and 

nominees are independent, with the exception of Mr. Dunlap, who is currently an employee of the Company.  Mr. Butterfield, who 

was an employee of the Company through December 31, 2007, including Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company from August 

2003 through May 2007, was determined to be independent as of January 1, 2011.   

The Company‘s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving all new transactions, 

and any material amendments or modifications to existing transactions, between the Company and Union Bank or any other affiliated 

party, and taking such actions as the Committee deems necessary and appropriate in relation to such transactions, including reporting 

to the Board of Directors with respect to such transactions as the Committee deems necessary and appropriate.  See ―Certain 

Relationships and Related Transactions.‖ 

Governance Guidelines of the Board 

The Board‘s governance is guided by the Company‘s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Board‘s current guidelines are available 

on the Company‘s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ and are available in print to any shareholder 

who requests them.  Among other matters, the guidelines provide for the following: 

 

 A majority of the members of the Board must be independent directors. 

 

 All directors stand for re-election via majority vote every year. 

 

 The Board undertakes an annual self-review. 

 

 The Board and each Board Committee has the authority to engage independent or outside counsel, accountants, or other 

advisors, as it determines to be necessary or appropriate.  All related fees and costs of such advisors are paid by the 

Company. 

 

 Board members have open communication with all members of management and counsel. 

 

 Non-Employee Directors meet in executive session, without the presence of management.  Mr. O‘Connor, who is 

chairman of the Audit Committee, currently presides at these executive sessions.  Anyone who has a concern about the 

Company may communicate that concern directly to these Non-Employee Directors.  Such communication may be 

http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
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mailed to the Corporate Secretary at 121 South 13
th

 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 or anonymously 

submitted via the Company‘s Web site at www.nelnet.com under ―Contact Us.‖ All such communications will be 

forwarded to the appropriate Non-Employee Directors for their review.  The Non-Employee Directors may take any 

action deemed appropriate or necessary, including the retention of independent or outside counsel, accountants, or other 

advisors, with respect to any such communication addressed to them.  No adverse action will be taken against any 

individual making any such communication in good faith to the Non-Employee Directors. 

 

Board Diversity 

 

In considering whether to recommend any candidate for election to the Board, including candidates recommended by shareholders, the 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will apply the criteria set forth in Nelnet‘s Corporate Governance Guidelines.  

These criteria include the candidate‘s independence, wisdom, integrity, understanding and acceptance of the Company‘s corporate 

philosophy, business or professional knowledge and experience, record of accomplishment, and willingness to commit time and 

energy to the Company. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines also specify that the value of diversity on the Board should be 

considered by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in the director identification and nomination process. The Board 

is committed to a strong and diverse membership and a thorough process to identify those individuals who can best contribute to the 

Company's continued success. As part of this process, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will continue to take all 

reasonable steps to identify and consider for Board membership all candidates who satisfy the business needs of the Company at the 

time of appointment. 

 

The Committee seeks nominees with a broad diversity of experience, professional skills, and backgrounds. The Committee does not 

assign specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is necessarily applicable to all prospective nominees. The 

Company believes that the backgrounds and qualifications of the directors, considered as a group, should provide a significant 

composite mix of experience, knowledge, and abilities that will allow the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. Nominees are not 

discriminated against on the basis of race, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or any other basis proscribed by law. 

 

The Board’s Role in Risk Oversight 
  

Our Board of Directors oversees an enterprise-wide approach to risk management, designed to support the achievement of 

organizational objectives, including strategic objectives, to improve long-term organizational performance and enhance shareholder 

value. A fundamental part of risk management is not only understanding the risks a company faces and what steps management is 

taking to manage those risks, but also understanding what level of risk is appropriate for the company in fostering a culture of risk-

aware and risk-adjusted decision-making that allows the company to avoid adverse financial and operational impacts. The 

involvement of the full Board of Directors in setting the Company‘s business strategy is a key part of its assessment of management‘s 

appetite for risk and also a determination of what constitutes an appropriate level of risk for the Company. 

 

While the Board of Directors has the ultimate oversight responsibility for the risk management process, various committees of the 

Board also have responsibility for risk management. In particular, the Risk and Finance Committee assists the Board of Directors to 

fulfill its responsibilities with respect to oversight of the Company‘s enterprise-wide risk management framework and oversight of the 

Company‘s strategies relating to capital management.  The Audit Committee focuses on the integrity of the Company‘s financial 

statements, system of internal controls, and policies for risk assessment and risk management.  The Company‘s Nominating and 

Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibility with respect to regulatory, 

compliance, related-party transactions, and public policy issues that affect the Company, and works closely with the Company‘s legal 

and policy services groups.  Finally, in setting compensation philosophy and strategy, the Compensation Committee strives to create 

incentives that encourage an appropriate level of risk-taking behavior consistent with the Company‘s business strategy.  

 

Board Leadership Structure 

 

Mr. Dunlap has served the Company as both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (co-Chief Executive Officer with Mr. Butterfield 

from 2003-2007) since the Company‘s inception.  The Board of Directors and management believe this structure is appropriate for our 

business for a number of reasons. Mr. Dunlap is the largest single shareholder of the Company, he is one of our co-founders, and his 

vision and leadership have been an integral part of the Company‘s success.  His experience in the business, as well as his high levels 

of skill and integrity, are critical to our ability to be responsive to conditions in the markets in which we operate and to our continued 

success.  In addition, the combined role Mr. Dunlap plays provides the Company the benefit of singular leadership for our strategy and 

vision.  Finally, the Company does not believe that separating the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles necessarily guarantees 

better governance or the absence of risk, and in fact can lead to confusion, inefficiencies, and unproductive conflicts.  The Company 

prefers to focus instead on our Board‘s overall effectiveness, and we believe Mr. Dunlap contributes materially to that effectiveness by 

virtue of his combined role. 

http://www.nelnet.com/
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Mr. O‘Connor is currently the independent Lead Director.  Mr. Dunlap, as Chairman, provides leadership to the Board and works with 

the Board to define its structure and activities in the fulfillment of its responsibilities. In conjunction with Mr. O‘Connor as the Lead 

Director, Mr. Dunlap sets the Board agendas with Board and management input, facilitates communication among directors, works 

with Mr. O‘Connor to provide appropriate information flow to the Board, and presides at meetings of the Board of Directors and 

shareholders.   Mr. O‘Connor works with Mr. Dunlap and other Board members to provide strong, independent oversight of the 

Company‘s management and affairs. Among other things, Mr. O‘Connor is involved in the development of Board meeting agendas as 

well as the quality, quantity, and timeliness of information sent to the Board, serves as the principal liaison between Mr. Dunlap and 

the independent directors, and chairs an executive session of the Non-Employee Directors at most regularly scheduled Board 

meetings.  

 

Board Committees 

 

The Board uses committees to assist it in the performance of its duties.  During 2010, the standing committees of the Board were the 

Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Risk and Finance Committee, and 

Executive Committee.  Each committee, other than the Executive Committee, is composed entirely of independent directors.  The 

purposes of each committee and their current members are set forth below. 

 

Audit Committee - The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a formal written charter, approved by the Board, which sets forth the 

committee‘s functions and responsibilities.  The Audit Committee Charter is posted on the Company‘s Web site at 

www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ – ―Committees‖ and is available in print to any shareholder who requests it. 

 

The Audit Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs. Henning and O‘Connor. The Committee held nine meetings in 2010.  

Each member of the Audit Committee is (1) ―independent‖ in accordance with the rules and regulations of the New York Stock 

Exchange and the rules and regulations of the SEC and (2) sufficiently financially literate to enable him or her to discharge the 

responsibilities of an Audit Committee member.  Mr. Henning has accounting and related financial management expertise and serves 

as the committee‘s ―audit committee financial expert,‖ as defined in the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.   

 

The Audit Committee provides assistance to the Board of Directors in its oversight of the integrity of the Company‘s financial 

statements, the Company‘s system of internal controls, the Company‘s policy standards and guidelines for risk assessment and risk 

management, the qualifications and independence of the Company‘s independent auditor, the performance of the Company‘s internal 

and independent auditors, and the Company‘s compliance with other regulatory and legal requirements.  The Audit Committee 

discusses with management and the independent auditor the Company‘s annual audited financial statements, including the Company‘s 

disclosures made under ―Management‘s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation‖ in its filings with 

the SEC, and recommends to the Board of Directors whether such audited financial statements should be included in the Company‘s 

annual report on Form 10-K.  The Audit Committee also selects the independent auditors for the next year and presents such selection 

to the shareholders for ratification. 

 

Compensation Committee - The Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a formal written charter, approved by the Board, which 

sets forth the committee‘s functions and responsibilities.  The Compensation Committee Charter is posted on the Company‘s Web site 

at www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ – ―Committees‖ and is available in print to any shareholder who requests 

it.   

 

The Compensation Committee is composed of Ms. Rath and Messrs. Abel and Reardon.  The Committee held four meetings in 2010.  

The members of the Compensation Committee are (1) ―independent‖ in accordance with the rules and regulations of the New York 

Stock Exchange and the rules and regulations of the SEC, (2) ―Non-Employee Directors‖ as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under 

Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ―Exchange Act‖) and (3) ―Outside Directors‖ within the meaning 

of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.  The Compensation Committee oversees the Company‘s compensation and 

benefit policies. The Company‘s compensation policies are designed with the goal of maximizing shareholder value over the long 

term. The Compensation Committee believes that this goal is best realized by utilizing a compensation program which serves to attract 

and retain superior executive talent by providing management with performance-based incentives and closely aligning the financial 

interests of management with those of the Company‘s shareholders.  The level of compensation is based on numerous factors, 

including achievement of results and financial objectives established by the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors. 

Salary and performance payments are reviewed regularly for competitiveness and are determined in large part by reference to 

compensation levels for comparable positions at comparable companies.  See ―Executive Compensation.‖ 

 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee - The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates pursuant to a 

formal written charter, approved by the Board, which sets forth the committee‘s functions and responsibilities.  The Nominating and 

Corporate Governance Committee Charter is posted on the Company‘s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate 

Governance‖ – ―Committees‖ and is available in print to any shareholder who requests it.   

http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
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The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is composed of Ms. Rath and Messrs. Abel and Reardon.  The Committee held 

four meetings in 2010.  The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are ―independent‖ as determined in 

accordance with the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange and the rules and regulations of the SEC.  The Nominating 

and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending qualified nominees to serve on the Company‘s 

Board of Directors, identifying members of the Board to serve on each Board committee, overseeing the evaluation by the Board of 

itself and its committees, identifying individuals to serve as officers of the Company and recommending such individuals to the Board, 

as well as developing and overseeing the Company‘s internal corporate governance processes.  The Nominating and Corporate 

Governance Committee reviews related party transactions in accordance with the written policies and procedures adopted by the Board 

of Directors for the Committee‘s review of related party transactions, and takes such actions as the Committee deems necessary and 

appropriate in relation to such transactions, including reporting to the Board of Directors with respect to such transactions as the 

Committee deems necessary and appropriate.     

 

The Company‘s Corporate Governance Guidelines establish criteria for specific qualities and skills to be considered by the 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as necessary for the Company‘s directors to possess.  These criteria include, 

among other items, independence, diversity, integrity, understanding the Company‘s corporate philosophy, valid business or 

professional knowledge, proven record of accomplishment with excellent organizations, ability to challenge and stimulate 

management, and willingness to commit time and energy.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has been given the 

responsibility to take all reasonable steps to identify and evaluate nominees for director and has adopted a policy requiring it to 

consider written proposals for director nominees received from shareholders of the Company.  No such proposals were received during 

2010 from a beneficial owner of more than 5% of Nelnet‘s stock (other than current management).  There is no difference in the 

manner in which the committee evaluates director nominees based on whether the nominee is recommended by a shareholder.  All of 

the nominees identified in this proxy statement are up for re-election and have been recommended by the Committee.   

 

When seeking candidates for director, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee solicits suggestions from incumbent 

directors, management, shareholders, and others.  The Committee has authority under its charter to retain a search firm for this 

purpose.  If the Committee believes a candidate would be a valuable addition to the Board of Directors, it recommends his or her 

candidacy to the full Board of Directors. 

 

The Company‘s By-Laws include provisions setting forth the specific conditions under which persons may be nominated by 

shareholders as directors at an annual meeting of shareholders.  The provisions include the condition that nominee proposals from 

shareholders must be in writing and that shareholders comply with the time-frame requirements described under ―Other Shareholder 

Matters – Shareholder Proposals for 2012 Annual Meeting‖ for shareholder proposals not included in the Company‘s Proxy Statement.  

A copy of such provisions is available upon written request to:  Nelnet, Inc., 121 South 13
th

 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 

68508, Attention: Corporate Secretary.  The Company‘s By-Laws are also posted on the Company‘s Web site at 

www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ – ―Corporate Documents.‖ 

 

Risk and Finance Committee - The Risk and Finance Committee operates pursuant to a formal written charter, approved by the Board, 

which sets forth the committee‘s functions and responsibilities.  The Committee held three meetings in 2010.  The Risk and Finance 

Committee Charter is posted on the Company‘s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ – ―Committees‖ 

and is available in print to any shareholder who requests it. 

 

The Risk and Finance Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs. Henning and O‘Connor.  The Risk and Finance Committee 

holds principal oversight responsibility with respect to the Company‘s enterprise-wide risk management framework, including the 

significant strategies, policies, procedures, and systems used to identify, assess, measure, and manage the major risks facing the 

Company and oversight of the Company‘s material financial matters, including capital management, funding strategy, investments, 

and acquisitions that are material to the Company‘s business.   

 

Executive Committee - The Executive Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs. Dunlap and Henning.  The Executive 

Committee held no formal meetings in 2010.  The Executive Committee, established by the Board of Directors, exercises all of the 

powers of the full Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Company during the intervals between meetings of the 

full Board, subject only to limitations as the Board of Directors may impose from time to time, or as limited by applicable law.   

 

Meetings of the Board  

 

The Board of Directors held nine meetings in 2010.  All directors attended at least 75% of the meetings of the Board and committees 

on which they serve.   

 

http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/
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Attendance at Annual Meetings of Shareholders 

 

The Company does not have a policy regarding director attendance at the annual meetings of shareholders.  All directors attended the 

prior year‘s annual meeting of shareholders.  

 

Director Compensation Table for Fiscal Year 2010 

 

The following table sets forth summary information regarding compensation of Non-Employee Directors for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2010.  Independent Non-Employee Directors are compensated based on Board meeting and committee meeting 

attendance.  The Company also pays an annual retainer of $60,000 to independent Non-Employee Directors.  An additional annual 

retainer of $10,000 is paid to independent Non-Employee Directors who serve as members of the Audit Committee, Compensation 

Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Risk and Finance Committee, or Executive Committee, as applicable.  

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is paid an additional $10,000 annual retainer fee.   Mr. Dunlap, who is an employee of the 

Company, does not receive any consideration for participation in Board or committee meetings.  Mr. Butterfield, who was an 

employee of the Company through December 31, 2007, was determined to be independent as of January 1, 2011 and will begin to 

receive independent Non-Employee Director compensation after the May 2011 Annual Meeting.   

 

Fees earned or paid Stock All other

Director Name in cash ($) (a) awards ($) (b) compensation ($) Total ($)

James P. Abel 17,000                            94,092                            —    111,092                          

Stephen F. Butterfield —    —    21,264                            ( c ) 21,264                            

Kathleen A. Farrell 21,000                            105,859                          —    126,859                          

Thomas E. Henning 21,000                            105,859                          —    126,859                          

Brian J. O'Connor 21,000                            105,859                          —    126,859                          

Kimberly K. Rath 97,000                            —    —    97,000                            

Michael D. Reardon 17,000                            94,092                            —    111,092                          

James H. Van Horn (d) 2,000                              —    —    2,000                              

2010 Compensation

 
(a) Amount represents cash paid to independent Non-Employee Directors for attendance at Board and committee meetings.  

Independent Non-Employee Directors earn $1,000 for each Board and committee meeting attended.  Amount also 

includes Ms. Rath‘s annual retainer fees for 2010 ($80,000), which she elected to receive in cash. 

 

(b) Prior to the Company‘s December 2003 initial public offering of its Class A common stock, the Board of Directors 

adopted, and the shareholders approved, a share-based compensation plan for independent Non-Employee Directors 

pursuant to which independent Non-Employee Directors can elect to receive their annual retainer fees in the form of cash 

or in shares of the Company‘s Class A common stock.  If an independent Non-Employee Director elects to receive Class 

A common stock, the number of shares of Class A common stock that will be granted will be equal to the amount of the 

annual retainer fee otherwise payable in cash divided by 85% of the fair market value of a share of Class A common 

stock on the date the fee is payable. Independent Non-Employee Directors who choose to receive Class A common stock 

may also elect to defer receipt of the Class A common stock until termination of their service on the Board of Directors. 

Any dividends paid in respect of deferred shares during the deferral period will also be deferred in the form of additional 

shares and paid out at termination from the Board of Directors.  This plan may be amended or terminated by the Board of 

Directors at any time, but no amendment or termination will adversely affect an independent Non-Employee Director‘s 

rights with respect to previously deferred shares without the consent of the independent Non-Employee Director. 

 

Each of the Non-Employee Directors, with the exception of Ms. Rath, elected to receive their annual retainer fees for 

2010 in the form of the Company‘s Class A common stock in accordance with the provisions of this plan.  As such, the 

amounts under ―stock awards‖ in the table above represent the fair value of the stock on the date of issuance, June 25, 

2010, of $20.90 per share.  The Company uses the closing market price of the Company‘s Class A common stock on the 

date the annual retainer fees are payable to calculate the number of shares to be issued under this plan. 
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(c) As a non-employee strategic advisor to the Company, Mr. Butterfield receives health, dental, and vision benefits.  During 

2010, Mr. Butterfield received $6,749 from the Company to cover the cost of his premiums related to these benefits.  The 

dollar value of insurance premiums paid by the Company related to these benefits was $13,515.  In addition, during 2010 

the Company matched $1,000 in contributions by Mr. Butterfield under the matching gift program discussed below. 

 

(d) Mr. Van Horn resigned from the Board of Directors effective February 15, 2010.   

 

Matching Gift Program 

 

The Company offers a matching gift program in which all employees with at least six months of service and all members of the Board 

of Directors are eligible to participate.  Under this program, for every dollar that an employee or Board member contributes to an 

eligible charitable organization or educational institution, the Company will make matching donations of additional funds, subject to 

terms and conditions applicable in an equal manner to all employees and Board members.  The total dollar amount payable under the 

program is $25,000 per director or employee per calendar year.  During 2010, the Company matched $1,000 in contributions by Mr. 

Butterfield pursuant to this program. 

 

Share Ownership Guidelines for Board Members 

 

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors believes that Board members should have a significant equity interest in the 

Company.  In order to promote equity ownership and further align the interests of Board members with the Company‘s shareholders, 

in 2005 the Committee recommended and the Board adopted Share Ownership Guidelines for Board members.  Under these 

guidelines, each Non-Employee Director is encouraged to own shares of the Company‘s Class A common stock with a value of 50% 

of the amount obtained by multiplying the annual retainer fee by the number of years the Director has served.  In 2010, all Non-

Employee Directors owned an amount of shares equal to or in excess of that suggested by the guidelines. 

 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

Under the Company's By-Laws, each executive officer holds office for a term of one year or until their successor is elected and 

qualified.   The executive officers of the Company are elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting immediately following 

the annual meeting of shareholders. 

 

The following sets forth the executive officers of the Company, including their names, their ages, their positions with the Company, 

and if different, their business experience during the last five years.    

 

See "Proposal 1 - Election of Directors - Nominees" for biographical information regarding Mr. Dunlap. 
 

Name and Age 

 

Position and Business Experience 

Todd M. Eicher, 41  Executive Director, Nelnet, Inc., May 2003 – present; Executive Director, Nelnet 

Enrollment Solutions LLC, a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., January 2008 – present; Chief 

Mergers and Acquisitions Officer, May 2005 – November 2008; Senior Vice President, 

July 1997 – May 2003 

 

Terry J. Heimes, 46  Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, Nelnet, Inc., March 2001 – present 

 Executive Vice President, National Education Loan Network, Inc., a subsidiary of Nelnet, 

Inc., March 2001 – October 2002; Vice President of Finance, October 1998 – March 2001 

 

William J. Munn, 43  Executive Director, Corporate Secretary, Chief Governance Officer, and General Counsel, 

Nelnet, Inc., September 2006 – present; Deputy General Counsel and Chief Governance 

Officer, January 2005 – September 2006; Senior Counsel, January 2000 – December 2004; 

Legal Counsel, October 1998 – December 1999 

  

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek, 45  President, Nelnet, Inc., January 2006 – present; Executive Director and Capital Markets 

Officer, October 2002 – January 2006; Vice President, January 1996 – March 2001 

 Senior Vice President, National Education Loan Network, Inc., a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., 

March 2001 – October 2002 

  



                     

                                         

14 

Name and Age 

 

Position and Business Experience 

Timothy A. Tewes, 52  Executive Director, Nelnet, Inc., June 2005 - present  

 President and Chief Executive Officer, Nelnet Business Solutions, Inc., a subsidiary of 

Nelnet, Inc., May 2007 – present; President, Nelnet Business Solutions - K-12 operations, 

June 2005 – May 2007; Executive Vice President, FACTS Management Company, a 

subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., September 2000 – June 2005.  Mr. Tewes‘ responsibilities with 

Nelnet Business Solutions include oversight of an employee team of approximately 300 

focused on offering actively managed tuition payment plans, financial needs assessment, 

enrollment and donor management, and campus commerce for K-12 institutions and 

institutions of higher education.  

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

Compensation Committee Governance 

The Company‘s Board of Directors has designated a Compensation Committee to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities 

relating to:  

 determining and administering the compensation of the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, 

President, and other executives of the Company 

 

 administering certain compensation plans, including stock and incentive compensation plans 

 

 assessing the effectiveness of succession planning relative to the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and other 

executives 

  

 approving, reviewing, and overseeing certain other benefit plans 

 

The Compensation Committee consists solely of independent members of the Board of Directors.  The Compensation Committee 

operates under a written charter adopted by the Board.  A committee comprised of certain members of senior management, referred to 

herein as the internal committee, is also engaged, at the direction of the Compensation Committee, in developing and recommending 

the Company‘s compensation philosophy and programs to the Board and ensuring the Company‘s compensation programs are 

administered in a fair and equitable manner, and that the objectives of the programs are achieved in full alignment with the Company‘s 

long term strategy.   

 

Compensation Objectives 

 

The Company‘s general compensation philosophy as an organization that values long-term success of its shareholders, customers, and 

associates is: 

 

The Company will pay a fair and equitable wage to its associates that is focused on the long-term performance objectives of the 

Company and is differentiated based on both performance of the associate and their business segment. 

 

The Company structures its total compensation to encourage ownership, savings, wellness, productivity, and innovation. In addition, 

total compensation will be market competitive compared to appropriate peer group companies, internally equitable, and aligned with a 

performance-based organization. The Company believes this approach will enable it to attract, retain, and develop the talent required 

for long-term success, recognize high levels of associate performance, provide opportunities for all associates to become an owner of 

the Company, and enhance associate engagement. 
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To build a strong work environment and culture, the Company considers its total compensation to be comprised of: 

 

 Base pay 

 

 Variable pay (performance-based incentives, sales incentives, innovation awards, stock grants, spot bonuses) 

 

 Benefits (health, wellness incentives, savings/investment options) 

 

The Company wants its culture and work environment to encourage innovation, development, and high performance. Specifically, the 

application of pay for performance principles will result in high performing associates being compensated above market. While 

variable pay will be the primary mode to differentiate performance, management has the discretion to use a number of choices to 

create a compensation package that maintains flexibility among individuals and business segments.  To promote long term 

concentration on shareholder value, the Company grants restricted stock awards as opposed to stock options, the majority of which 

contain vesting periods. 

 

Over the past several years, the Company has continued to build a culture focused on innovation. An important part of this strategy is 

to provide incentives that reward new ideas, products, services, and markets that have the potential to positively transform the 

Company‘s future. Associates and related teams that demonstrate innovative results can share in the success of their ideas by receiving 

recognition and rewards through one-time or increased annual performance-based incentives, which may be paid in cash, Class A 

common stock, or a combination of both.  

  

The Company‘s objective is to have executive compensation plans and practices that are consistent with the philosophy of a 

performance-based organization, and that align the interests of the executives with the shareholders.  Accordingly, the Company‘s 

compensation philosophy seeks to award compensation that is based on Company, business segment, and individual performance, and 

that is designed to motivate executives to achieve strategic business objectives while individually performing at high levels.   

 

The annual and long-term performance measures used by the Company‘s Compensation Committee in reviewing executive 

compensation include:  

 

 the levels of the Company‘s consolidated net income under generally accepted accounting principles (―GAAP‖) 

 

 consolidated ―base net income‖
1
 as reported by the Company in its filings with the SEC 

 

 financial and operational performance measures, such as levels of operating expenses and diversification and growth of 

revenue from fee-based businesses 

 

 associate engagement and motivation measures 

 

 individual achievement 

 

 business segment performance, including growth in customer base, revenue, and segment profitability 

 

Committee policy requires all of the Company‘s compensation plans and practices to comply with applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations. 

 

Each year the Committee directs the Company, through the internal committee consisting of the Chief Learning Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer, and President, to review and update as necessary the Company‘s compensation philosophy and strategy statement 

for the compensation of the executives, and to prepare a proposed executive compensation framework for the year.  When establishing 

the proposed compensation framework, in keeping with the Company‘s goal of attracting, motivating, and retaining executives who 

will contribute to the Company‘s long-term success and the creation of shareholder value, the internal committee periodically 

undertakes the review of comparative compensation offered within the industries in which the Company competes for executive talent.  

Given the Company‘s diversified business segments, management believes the Company competes for executive talent in many 

industries, including, but not limited to, financial services, technology, and business process outsourcing.  The internal committee 

periodically completes an external compensation review based on information from various databases and the industries noted 

                                                           
1 ―Base net income‖ is GAAP net income excluding derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments, amortization of 
intangible assets, compensation related to business combinations, variable-rate floor income, and discontinued operations.  A description of 

―base net income‖ and a reconciliation of GAAP net income to ―base net income‖ can be found in supplemental financial information online at 

www.nelnetinvestors.com. 
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previously.  The purpose of this review is to ensure compensation is aligned with the market for comparable jobs so the Company can 

continue to attract, motivate, retain, and reward qualified executives.  Also, the internal committee considers the average salary 

adjustments anticipated in the marketplace each year and sets the Company‘s target increase accordingly.  In this way, the Company 

seeks to ensure any changes to compensation are appropriate and reflect any material changes in the market.   

 

The Company also considers the compensation levels of executives relative to total compensation within the Company in order to 

provide appropriate context for making compensation decisions at the executive level.  As part of this process, the Company seeks to 

maintain internal pay equity by maintaining equitable relationships between each management level with respect to all components of 

compensation, both individually and in the aggregate, paid to individuals within such levels.      

 

The internal committee also consults with the Chief Executive Officer in making compensation decisions for the executives. 

 

The Company‘s compensation philosophy and strategy described above is developed by the internal committee and other members of 

management and then reviewed and approved by the Compensation Committee, with any modifications that the Committee deems to 

be appropriate, after discussions by the Committee.  To ensure independence and candid discussions, the Committee also meets in 

executive session without the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and other members of management being 

present to review and approve the compensation framework.  As part of this process, the Committee reviews the Company‘s goals and 

financial objectives related to base salaries and incentive compensation.  The Committee also discusses the Chief Executive Officer‘s 

individual performance in reviewing and approving his total compensation potential for the year, and coordinates with the Board to 

monitor the performance of the Chief Executive Officer throughout the year to ensure that compensation being provided meets the 

performance incentive intent of the compensation framework. 

 

Since the primary driver of the Company‘s compensation philosophy is pay for performance, the Company‘s approach to risk 

management and say on pay provide input and balance to this philosophy. 

 

Risk Management 

 

The internal compensation committee reviews incentive compensation arrangements to ensure that the arrangements do not encourage 

executives to take unnecessary and excessive risks.  Compensation approaches are reviewed by the Company‘s Enterprise Risk 

Management team. A balance between Company and business segment performance is required to protect against unnecessary risks 

being taken and the Company believes that its compensation structures do not encourage unnecessary risk. 

 

Say on Pay 

 

Shareholders have the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on executive compensation. See Proposals 3 and 4 below for the proposals 

for shareholder advisory votes on the Company‘s compensation of Named Executive Officers in 2010, and on the frequency with 

which this vote should be conducted in future years. Although the shareholder votes on these proposals are non-binding, the 

Compensation Committee will consider the outcomes of the votes when making future compensation decisions for Named Executive 

Officers and when making future decisions as to the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation.  

Industry Comparison of Compensation 

To assist in establishing a competitive overall compensation program, the Company periodically engages a nationally recognized 

compensation consulting firm to review the most highly compensated officers of the Company.  This review includes the Company‘s 

Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and other executive officers.  In 2010, the Company engaged Towers 

Watson, an objective third party, to review executive compensation at the Company and to conduct an executive total cash 

compensation analysis to assess the competitiveness of the compensation levels of base salary and bonuses provided to the Company‘s 

Chief Executive Officer and other executives.  The consulting firm formulated competitive market rates for all executive positions 

included in the study.  Based upon their market analysis, the consultants presented their findings and observations as to the 

competitiveness of the Company‘s base salaries and bonuses compared to industries within North America, including, but not limited 

to, financial services, technology, and business process outsourcing.  Based on their review, the internal committee concluded that no 

material modifications needed to be made to the existing compensation structures. 

This study is used by the Company to identify potential gaps or inequities in total compensation and to identify appropriate 

compensation levels and compensation design features. The study was conducted based on the Company‘s duty to its shareholders in 

an effort to motivate, retain, and attract top performers that drive the Company‘s performance results.  
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When comparing the Company‘s executive base salaries, annual incentive plan, benefit plans, and total compensation to data of the 

peer groups, the consultants‘ analysis ensures that the Company provides a complete compensation package that is competitive in the 

marketplace.  

Another independent third party review of the Company‘s total compensation structure will be completed in the next two to three 

years.  

 

The industries referenced previously and used by the Company to establish competitive compensation programs may not represent the 

same industry as the peer group used by the Company for purposes of the Performance Index Graph furnished in the Company‘s 

annual report on Form 10-K. 

 

Components of Executive Compensation 

 

The Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and other executives may be compensated with a combination of annual base salary, annual 

performance-based incentive payments, and, with respect to the executives (other than the Chief Executive Officer), issuance of shares 

of the Company‘s Class A common stock, which are typically restricted from sale over a defined vesting period. The Chief Executive 

Officer has historically not received equity compensation because he owns a significant amount of the Company‘s common stock and 

controls the majority of voting rights of the Company, and thus has interests already aligned with the other shareholders of the 

Company.  In determining levels of compensation, management and the Committee work together to establish targeted total 

compensation for each executive and then allocate that compensation among base salary and incentive compensation.   

 

The Company‘s 2010 annual performance-based incentives were paid, at the executives‘ option (other than to the Chief Executive 

Officer, who received his incentive in cash), as either 100% cash, 100% stock, or 50% cash/50% stock. Those electing stock also 

received an additional restricted share grant equal to 15% of the amount of their bonus they elected to receive in stock to promote 

increased and continued share ownership by associates.  All shares issued as part of the incentive award were issued pursuant to the 

Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan and were fully vested, but restricted from transfer for one year from issuance.   

 

Other awards of the Company‘s Class A common stock (not associated with the annual performance-based incentives) are based on 

the Company‘s and the individual‘s performance, and are designed both to align the executives‘ own interests with the long-term 

strategic goals of the Company and to contribute to the retention of those individuals. 

  

Each element of compensation is designed to be competitive with comparable companies and to align management‘s incentives with 

the long-term interests of the Company‘s shareholders.  The Committee, upon management‘s recommendation, determines the amount 

of each element of compensation by reviewing the current compensation mix for each of the executives in comparison to the 

Company‘s performance, the Company‘s long-term objectives, and the scope of that executive‘s responsibility. The Committee seeks 

to achieve an appropriate balance between base salary, annual performance-based incentives, and longer-term equity incentives for all 

of the Company‘s executives.  The Committee does not assign relative weights to the performance measures described above in 

―Compensation Objectives‖ in setting these salaries, annual performance-based incentives, and longer-term equity incentives.  

 

Base Salaries 

 

The Company wants to provide senior management with a level of assured cash compensation in the form of base salary that is 

appropriate given their professional status and accomplishments.  Base salary for the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and other 

executives is based upon an evaluation of individual responsibilities of each person, market comparisons from compensation surveys, 

and an assessment of each individual‘s performance.  Base salaries are generally set to be within a median range of the compensation 

survey results, which helps the Company attract and retain talented executives.  Changes in base salaries of executives depend on 

projected changes in the external market as well as individual contributions to the Company‘s performance.  All base salaries are paid 

in cash.  

 

The Chief Executive Officer has not had a base salary increase from 2006 through 2010, the President had no increase in 2009, and 

the Chief Financial Officer did not have a base salary increase from 2007 through 2009. 

 

The decline in economic conditions resulted in minimal increase or declines in the cost of living during 2008 into 2009.  Thus, as a 

general rule, no overall base salary adjustments were made and wages were frozen in 2009 for all employees, including executives.  

Considering the improvement in corporate business results and the current economic conditions, base salary merit increases were 

reinstated for 2010. 

 

 



                     

                                         

18 

 

Annual Performance-Based Incentive Payments 

Historically, the performance-based incentive pools are determined and funded based on the Company‘s financial performance while 

allowing for subjective modification to account for unique results during the year. 

In addition to earning targets, most business segment plan criteria also include additional measurements such as: 

 Fiscal (financial and operational) performance 

 

 Customer engagement 

 

 Associate engagement 

 

With respect to assessing performance, the achievements of the Company, the business segment, and individual performance 

objectives are considered. Company-wide performance objectives include, as stated previously, results of the Company‘s consolidated 

GAAP net income and ―base net income,‖ financial and operational performance measures, associate engagement, and business 

segment performance factors.  Achieving the targeted ―base net income‖ is the primary company-wide objective, as the growth in 

―base net income‖ has a direct correlation with the interests of the Company‘s shareholders. Incentives are generally positioned to be 

within a median range of the compensation survey results.  

 

The executives also have specific performance goals. Where an executive has responsibility for a particular business segment, the 

performance goals are heavily weighted toward the performance of that business segment.  However, actual payments for business 

segment performance goal achievement can be negatively or positively impacted by overall company-wide performance, which funds 

the overall incentive pool. When an executive has broader corporate responsibility, such as the Company‘s Chief Financial Officer and 

President, their particular objectives for the year are tied more closely to the overall company-wide performance.   

 

The executives are eligible for performance-based incentive payments under an incentive plan arrangement which generally increases 

as the Company‘s ―base net income‖ increases.  In addition to financial results, each executive‘s business segment and individual 

performance are considered in order to determine the final amount of the incentive payment earned.   

 

While the Company strives for overall consistency in executive compensation, the executives‘ potential incentive amounts vary by 

business segment due to differences in roles, business models, and business performance.  
 

Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Officers 

 

On June 1, 2005, in connection with the Company‘s acquisition of a majority of the stock of FACTS Management Co., the Company 

entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tewes that expired May 31, 2010.  Mr. Tewes remains an ‗at will‘ employee of the 

Company. 

The Company does not have contracts, agreements, plans, or arrangements with its Named Executive Officers that provide for 

payment in connection with any termination or change-in-control.  In addition, the Company does not currently have a formal written 

policy for the adjustment or recovery of awards or payments if the relevant performance measures upon which they are based are 

restated or otherwise adjusted in a manner that would reduce the size of an award or payment.   

Executive Officers Bonus Plan 

 

Effective January 1, 2010, the Board of Directors terminated the Executive Officers Bonus Plan (the ―Plan‖) for Mr. Dunlap, Chief 

Executive Officer. 

 

Under the Plan, Mr. Dunlap was eligible for an annual bonus equal to $500,000 for every $1.00, or the pro-rata share thereof, in ―base 

net income‖ per share earned by the Company during the year. ―Base net income‖ per share was defined under the plan as the 

Company‘s annual ―base net income‖ for the Plan year, as calculated and reported in the Company‘s earnings releases and filings, 

divided by the weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding as of the end of the Plan year. 

 

Effective January 1, 2010, Mr. Dunlap‘s bonus is determined by the Board of Directors based on individual performance and 

Company results, provided that such amount shall not in any case exceed 100% of Mr. Dunlap‘s annual base salary, which for 2010 

was $500,000. (Mr. Dunlap‘s salary in 2011 remains at $500,000).  The President and Chief Financial Officer‘s incentive targets are 
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also limited to 100% of their base salary.  For 2010, the summary compensation tables below reflect an incentive greater than 100% of 

base salary for these executives due to the additional 15% stock grant resulting from their election of 100% stock for their 

performance-based incentive. 

Restricted Stock Plan 

The Company maintains a Restricted Stock Plan administered by the Committee to reward performance by associates, including 

executives other than the Chief Executive Officer.  This plan permits the Committee to reward a recipient with an award of shares of 

the Company‘s Class A common stock, which, in the Committee‘s sole discretion, may have vesting requirements attached.  These 

additional awards are designed to recognize and reward the executives, and to connect the executives‘ wealth accumulation directly to 

the Company‘s performance, thereby encouraging the executives to behave as owners of the Company.   

 

Other Equity Awards 

 

The Company also supports a number of other savings and investment vehicles that assist all associates, including executives, in 

increasing their long-term financial savings and in becoming owners of the Company.  The Company provides an Employee Share 

Purchase Plan, pursuant to which shares of the Company‘s Class A common stock may be acquired through payroll deductions, at a 

discount of 15% to the lower of the average market price of the Company‘s stock on the first and last trading days of each calendar 

quarter.  In addition, the Company provides all eligible associates the opportunity to receive the Company‘s matching contribution to 

the 401(k) plan in shares of the Company‘s Class A common stock.   

 

The Company does not offer stock options.  It is management‘s opinion that awards of restricted stock are a better method of 

encouraging executives to focus on the long term value of the Company.  

 

Share Ownership Guidelines 

 

The Compensation Committee believes that executives should have a significant equity interest in the Company.  In order to promote 

equity ownership and further align the interests of management with the Company‘s shareholders, in 2005 the Committee 

recommended and the Board adopted Share Ownership Guidelines for management associates at certain levels.  Under these 

guidelines, each Named Executive Officer is encouraged to own at least 15,000 shares of Company stock. As of February 28, 2011, all 

Named Executive Officers met these guidelines, and are thereby exposed to downside risk in the Company‘s equity performance.   

 

Other Compensation 

 

In addition to base salaries and annual performance-based incentive compensation, the Company provides executives with certain 

other benefits to assist the Company in remaining competitive in the marketplace and to encourage executives to remain with the 

Company. 

  

Benefits, including health, dental, and vision coverage, are designed to be competitive with the national marketplace.  A critical aspect 

of the Company‘s health benefits program is its focus on associate health and wellness.  The Company encourages all associates, 

including executives, to take a proactive approach to their personal health and wellbeing.  The Company has implemented wellness 

programs which encourage and reward associates for healthy habits by offering the opportunity to lower their insurance premiums.    

 

The Company owns a controlling interest in an aircraft due to the frequent business travel needs of its executives and the limited 

availability of commercial flights in Lincoln, Nebraska, where the Company‘s headquarters are located.  Union Financial Services, 

Inc., which is owned by Mr. Dunlap and Stephen F. Butterfield, a member of the Board of Directors and former Co-Chief Executive 

Officer of the Company, owns the remaining interest in the aircraft.  Consistent with guidance issued in 2010 from the Federal 

Aviation Administration, the Company can be reimbursed for the pro rata cost of owning, operating, and maintaining the aircraft when 

used for routine personal travel by certain individuals positions with the Company require them to routinely change travel plans within 

a short time period.  Accordingly the Company allows Messrs. Dunlap and Butterfield to utilize its interest in the aircraft for personal 

travel when it is not required for business travel.  The value of the personal use of the aircraft is computed based on the Company‘s 

aggregate incremental costs, which include variable operating costs such as fuel costs, mileage costs, trip-related maintenance and 

hangar costs, on-board catering, landing/ramp fees, and other miscellaneous variable costs.  In 2010, Messrs. Dunlap and Butterfield 

did not receive any personal travel benefits with respect to the Company‘s interest in the aircraft, since all personal travel by Messrs. 

Dunlap and Butterfield on such aircraft occurred with respect to the interest in the aircraft owned by Union Financial Services, Inc. 
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Policy on Deductibility of Compensation 

 

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code imposes a $1 million limitation, subject to certain exceptions, on a public company‘s 

income tax deductibility in any tax year with respect to compensation paid to any employee who is a chief executive officer, or one of 

the three highest paid executive officers of the company on the last day of that tax year (other than the chief executive officer or the 

chief financial officer).  This limitation does not apply to certain ―performance-based‖ compensation paid under a shareholder 

approved plan that meets the requirements of Section 162(m) and the regulations thereunder.  

 

The Committee believes that the Company will not be subject to Section 162(m) limitations on the deductibility of compensation paid 

to executives for 2010.  The Committee may consider other steps which might be in the Company‘s best interests to comply with 

Section 162(m), while reserving the right to award future compensation which may not comply with the Section 162(m) requirements 

for deductibility if the Committee concludes that such compensation is in the Company‘s best interests in providing incentives to 

attract, motivate, and retain key executives. 

 

Matching Gift Program 

 

The Company offers a matching gift program in which all employees with at least six months of service and all members of the Board 

of Directors are eligible to participate.  Under this program, for every dollar ($100 minimum) that an employee or Board member 

contributes to an eligible charitable organization or educational institution, the Company will make matching donations of additional 

funds, subject to terms and conditions applicable in an equal manner to all employees and Board members.  During 2010, the 

Company matched the following amounts in contributions under the provisions of this program by the Named Executive Officers: 

 

Michael S. Dunlap $ 100        

Terry J. Heimes 22,600   

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek —    

Timothy A. Tewes —    

William J. Munn 1,750     

 
Conclusion 

 

By ensuring market competitive compensation that is aligned with a performance-based organization philosophy, the Company 

expects to attract, motivate, and retain the executive talent required to achieve long-term goals.  This is critical, as management knows 

the Company‘s success hinges on having engaged executives who are committed to the Company.   

 

Compensation Committee Report 

 

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of 

Regulation S-K with management. Based upon such review, the related discussions, and such other matters deemed relevant and 

appropriate by the Compensation Committee, the Compensation Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

James P. Abel, Chairman 

Kimberly K. Rath 

Michael D. Reardon 
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Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2010, 2009, and 2008 

The following table sets forth summary information with respect to the compensation paid and bonuses granted for services rendered 

by the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as well as each of the Company‘s other three most highly 

compensated executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2010 (collectively, the ―Named Executive Officers‖).  The 

information presented in the table relates to the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, except that in accordance with 

SEC staff guidance only information relating to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 is presented for William J. Munn, who first 

became a Named Executive Officer in 2010. Salaries and bonuses are paid at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  

 

All other

compensation

Name and principal position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) (b) ($) (c) Total ($)

Michael S. Dunlap 2010 500,000      500,000        10,440         1,010,440     

Chief Executive Officer 2009 500,000      —    (d) 10,340         510,340        

2008 500,000      —    (d) 10,340         510,340        

 

Terry J. Heimes 2010 331,500      381,240        33,180         745,920        

Chief Financial Officer 2009 325,000      325,017        33,440         683,457        

2008 325,000      50,001          19,986         394,987        

 

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek 2010 331,500      381,240        10,340         723,080        

President 2009 325,000      325,017        10,340         660,357        

2008 325,000      50,001          9,740           384,741        

Timothy A. Tewes 2010 275,800      172,512        21,087         469,399        

President and Chief Executive 2009 260,000      120,005        26,943         406,948        

Officer, Nelnet Business Solutions, 2008 260,000      150,004        26,093         436,097        

a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc.  

William J. Munn 2010 225,000      172,512        10,646         408,158        

Executive Director, Corporate Secretary,

Chief Governance Officer,

and General Counsel

Annual compensation (a)

 
(a) Executive officers may receive perquisites and personal benefits, the aggregate dollar amounts of which are below the current 

SEC threshold of $10,000 for reporting. 

 

(b) Amounts represent bonuses paid in 2011, 2010, and 2009 for services rendered during the 2010, 2009, and 2008 calendar years, 

respectively.  The Company‘s 2010 annual performance-based incentives were paid, at the executives‘ option (other than to the 

Chief Executive Officer, who received his incentive in cash), as either 100% cash, 100% stock, or 50% cash/50% stock. Those 

electing stock also received an additional restricted share grant equal to 15% of the amount of their bonus they elected to 

receive in stock to promote increased and continued share ownership by associates.  All shares issued as part of the incentive 

award were issued pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan and were fully vested, but restricted from transfer for one 

year from issuance.  All 2009 and 2008 bonuses (paid in 2010 and 2009, respectively) were also paid in fully vested shares of 

Class A common stock issued pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan, however, the 2009 and 2008 bonuses did not 

include an additional 15% share award and there were no transfer restrictions.  The stock issuances for bonuses in 2010, 2009, 

and 2008 were not made as equity incentive plan awards.   

 

For 2010, all Named Executive Officers (with the exception of Mr. Dunlap) elected to receive 100% of their annual 

performance-based incentive in stock. As a result, Mr. Heimes and Mr. Noordhoek‘s annual incentives are greater than their 

base salary due to the additional 15% stock grant they received as a result of this election. 
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(c) ―All other compensation‖ includes the following: 

 

Employer

matching

contributions Premiums Matching Dividends Gross-up

under on life gift on restricted Automobile for payment

Year 401(k) Plan ($) insurance ($) program (1) stock ($) (2) allowance ($) of taxes ($) Other ($) Total ($)

Michael S. Dunlap 2010 9,800                540                 100                —    —    —    —    10,440      

2009 9,800                540                 —    —    —    —    —    10,340      

2008 9,200                540                 600                —    —    —    —    10,340      
 

Terry J. Heimes 2010 9,800                540                 22,600           —    —    —    240      33,180      

2009 9,800                540                 23,100           —    —    —    —    33,440      

2008 9,200                540                 10,100           —    —    —    146      19,986      
 

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek 2010 9,800                540                 —    —    —    —    —    10,340      

2009 9,800                540                 —    —    —    —    —    10,340      

2008 9,200                540                 —    —    —    —    —    9,740        
 

Timothy A. Tewes 2010 9,800                540                 —    2,004             6,000             2,743            —    21,087      

2009 9,800                540                 —    280                12,000           4,323            —    26,943      

2008 8,976                540                 —    529                12,000           4,048            —    26,093      

William J. Munn 2010 8,308                540                 1,750             49                  —    —    —    10,646      

All other compensation

 
 

(1) The Company has a matching gift program as discussed previously in the ―Compensation Discussion and Analysis‖ included in this 

proxy statement. 

 
(2) The Company‘s cash dividend payments on its Class A and Class B common stock includes dividend payments on unvested shares 

of Class A common stock issued pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan.  Dividends paid to the Named Executive Officers 

on unvested restricted stock are included in the table above.   
 

(d) For 2009 and 2008, Mr. Dunlap was not entitled to any award under the Executive Officers Bonus Plan, as the Company did 

not maintain an investment grade rating by both Standard & Poor‘s and  Moody‘s Investor Services.  Effective January 1, 2010, 

the Board of Directors terminated the Executive Officers Bonus Plan. 

 

Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table for Fiscal Year 2010 

 

The following table sets forth summary information relating to each grant of an award made to the Company‘s Named Executive 

Officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.   

Approval of

grant by Grant date

Compensation Number of fair value 

Name Grant date (a) Committee shares of stock of stock awards ($) (b)

Michael S. Dunlap —    —    —    —    

Terry J. Heimes March 12, 2010 February 2, 2010 18,425                      325,017                        

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek March 12, 2010 February 2, 2010 18,425                      325,017                        

Timothy A. Tewes March 12, 2010 February 2, 2010  6,803                        120,005                        

William J. Munn March 12, 2010 February 2, 2010 6,803                        120,005                         
 

(a) On March 12, 2010, the Company issued stock to pay fiscal year 2009 bonuses.  The stock issuances were not made as equity 

incentive plan awards.  All 2009 bonuses (paid in 2010) were paid in fully vested shares of Class A common stock issued 

pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan. 

 

(b) The Company determined the value of these awards based on the average of the high and low prices for sales of Class A 

common stock on March 4, 2010, which was $17.64.   



                     

                                         

23 

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table (As of December 31, 2010) 

 

The following table sets forth summary information relating to the outstanding unvested equity awards for the Company‘s Named 

Executive Officers as of December 31, 2010. 
 

Number of Market value

shares of stock of shares of 

that have stock that 

Name not vested have not vested ($) (a)

Michael S. Dunlap —    —    

Terry J. Heimes —    —    

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek —    —    

Timothy A. Tewes 2,625                      (b) 62,186                             

William J. Munn 66                           (c) 1,564                               

Stock awards

 
(a) Based on the closing market price of the Company‘s Class A common stock as of December 31, 2010 of $23.69. 

 

(b) Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on October 1, 2007 pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted 

Stock Plan, of which 375 shares will vest on each March 15 during the years 2011 through 2017.   

 

(c) Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on March 9, 2009 pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted 

Stock Plan, of which 33 shares will vest on each March 9, 2011 and March 9, 2012. 
 

Stock Vested Table for Fiscal Year 2010 
 

The following table sets forth summary information relating to the stock vested for the Company‘s Named Executive Officers during 

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.  

Number of Market value

shares of stock of shares of 

acquired stock realized

Name on vesting on vesting ($) (c)

Michael S. Dunlap —    —    

Terry J. Heimes —    —    

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek —    —    

Timothy A. Tewes 1,375                  (a) 26,924                    

William J. Munn 34                       (b) 659                         

Stock awards

 
 

(a) Amount includes 375 shares and 1,000 shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on October 1, 2007 and August 23, 

2007, respectively, pursuant to the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan.  The closing market price on the date of issuance of these 

shares was $18.71 and $18.36 per share, respectively.  These shares vested on March 15, 2010 and April 30, 2010, respectively. 
 

(b) Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on March 9, 2009.  The closing market price on the date 

of issuance of these shares was $4.91 per share. These shares vested on March 9, 2010.   
 

(c) The closing market price of the Company‘s common stock as of March 9, 2010, March 15, 2010, and April 30, 2010 (the 

vesting dates) was $19.37 per share, $18.57 per share, and $19.96 per share, respectively.   

 

Stock Option, SAR, Long-Term Incentive, and Defined Benefit Plans 

 

The Company does not have any stock option, SAR, long-term incentive, or defined benefit plans covering its Named Executive 

Officers. 
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS  
 

Stock Ownership 

 

The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 660,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value.  The common stock is divided into 

two classes, consisting of 600,000,000 shares of Class A common stock and 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock.  The 

Company also has authorized 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value.  

 

The following table sets forth information as of February 28, 2011, regarding the beneficial ownership of each class of the Company‘s 

common stock by: 

 

 each person, entity, or group known by the Company to beneficially own more than five percent of the outstanding 

shares of any class of common stock 

 

 each of the Named Executive Officers 

 

 each incumbent director and each nominee for director 

 

 all executive officers and directors as a group  

 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. Under these rules, a person is deemed to 

beneficially own a share of the Company‘s common stock if that person has or shares voting power or investment power with respect 

to that share, or has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of that share within 60 days, including through the exercise of any 

option, warrant, or other right or the conversion of any other security. 

 

The number of shares of Class B common stock for each person in the table below assumes such person does not convert any Class B 

common stock into Class A common stock. Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote, the address of each five percent beneficial owner 

is c/o Nelnet, Inc., 121 South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508. Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote, the persons 

named in the tables below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as being 

beneficially owned by them. 

 

Beneficial Ownership – As of February 28, 2011 

Name Class A Class B Total Class A Class B Total

Michael S. Dunlap 7,378,326          (3) 9,455,730        (4) 16,834,056       20.0% 82.3% 34.8% 67.1%

Stephen F. Butterfield 355                     3,952,364        (5) 3,952,719         * 34.4% 8.2% 26.0%

Angela L. Muhleisen 7,778,814          (6) 1,361,436        (7) 9,140,250         21.1% 11.8% 18.9% 14.1%

Union Bank and Trust Company 4,547,955          (8) 1,361,436        (9) 5,909,391         12.3% 11.8% 12.2% 12.0%

Terry J. Heimes 192,671             (10) -                  192,671            * —    * *

William J. Munn 23,294               (11) -                  23,294              * —    * *

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek 418,320             (12) -                  418,320            1.1% —    * *

Timothy A. Tewes 24,029               (13) -                  24,029              * —    * *

James P. Abel 33,186               (14) -                  33,186              * —    * *

Kathleen A. Farrell 19,399               (15) -                  19,399              * —    * *

Thomas E. Henning 42,082               (16) -                  42,082              * —    * *

Brian J. O'Connor 40,541               -                  40,541              * —    * *

Kimberly K. Rath 15,535               (17) -                  15,535              * —    * *

Michael D. Reardon 20,121               (18) -                  20,121              * —    * *

The Vangaurd Group, Inc. 2,081,466          (19) -                  2,081,466         5.6% —    4.3% 1.4%

Executive officers and directors 

   as a group 8,397,284          (20) 11,495,377      19,892,661       22.8% 100.0% 41.1% 81.3%

Number of shares beneficially owned

Percentage of shares beneficially 

owned (1)

Percentage of 

combined voting 

power of all 

classes of stock 

(2)

 

* Less than 1%. 
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(1) Based on 36,861,784 shares of Class A common stock and 11,495,377 shares of Class B common stock outstanding as of 

February 28, 2011.    

 

(2) These percentages reflect the different voting rights of the Company‘s Class A common stock and Class B common 

stock. Each share of Class A common stock has one vote and each share of Class B common stock has ten votes on all 

matters to be voted upon by the Company‘s shareholders. 

 

(3) Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,425,871 shares of Class A common stock, which 

includes 3,015 shares of Class A common stock held indirectly by Mr. Dunlap that were issued under the Company‘s 

401(k) plan matching stock program.  Mr. Dunlap may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 

4,952,455 shares of Class A common stock, which includes shares of Class A common stock that are owned by entities 

that Mr. Dunlap may be deemed to control, consisting of: (i) 404,500 shares owned by Farmers & Merchants Investment 

Inc. (―F&M‖), of which Mr. Dunlap is a director and co-president and owns or controls approximately 22% of the 

outstanding voting stock, and of which Mr. Dunlap‘s spouse owns approximately 18% of the outstanding voting stock, 

and (ii) 4,547,955 shares held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union Bank and 

Trust Company (―Union Bank‖) (some of which shares may under certain circumstances be pledged as security by Union 

Bank‘s customers under the terms of the accounts) with respect to which Union Bank may be deemed to have or share 

voting or investment power.  Mr. Dunlap is a director of and controls Union Bank through F&M. Mr. Dunlap disclaims 

beneficial ownership of the shares held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union 

Bank, except for his beneficial interest in the shares of Class A common stock issued to him through the Company‘s 

401(k) plan matching stock program. He also disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by F&M, except to the 

extent of his pecuniary interest therein and to the extent that he actually has or shares voting power or investment power 

with respect to such shares, and the reporting thereof shall not be construed as an admission that he is a beneficial owner 

of such shares.  With respect to the number of shares of Class A common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Dunlap that 

are held by Union Bank, the number of shares set forth in the table reflects the number of shares held by Union Bank as 

of December 31, 2010, as reported in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC on February 14, 2011. 

 

(4) Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 6,507,603 shares of Class B common stock, which 

includes 1,701,000 shares owned by Mr. Dunlap‘s spouse.  Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have shared voting and investment 

power over 2,948,127 shares of Class B common stock, which includes (i) 1,586,691 shares owned by Union Financial 

Services, Inc., of which Mr. Dunlap is Chairman and owns 50.0% of the outstanding capital stock, (ii) 1,035,410 shares 

held by Union Bank as Trustee for a Class B grantor retained annuity trust (―GRAT‖) established by Mr. Dunlap, and 

(iii) 326,026 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a Class B GRAT established by Mr. Butterfield. Mr. Dunlap 

disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Union Financial Services, Inc., except to the extent of his pecuniary 

interest therein.  Mr. Dunlap also disclaims beneficial ownership of the 326,026 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee 

under the Class B GRAT established by Mr. Butterfield. 

  

(5) Mr. Butterfield is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,039,647 shares of Class B common stock that 

are held by the Stephen F. Butterfield Revocable Living Trust, of which Mr. Butterfield is a trustee.  Mr. Butterfield is 

deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 1,912,717 shares of Class B common stock, which includes (i) 

1,586,691 shares owned by Union Financial Services, Inc., of which Mr. Butterfield is a director and president and owns 

50.0% of the outstanding capital stock and (ii) 326,026 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee for a Class B GRAT 

established by Mr. Butterfield. Mr. Butterfield disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Union Financial 

Services, Inc., except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.  A total of 2,039,647 shares are pledged as collateral 

for a line of credit.      

 

(6) Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,609,955 shares of Class A common stock.  

Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 5,168,859 shares of Class A common stock, 

which includes (i) 88,864 shares jointly owned by Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, (ii) 1,114,390 shares owned by her 

spouse, (iii) 575,245 shares held by Ms. Muhleisen‘s son, (iv) 575,245 shares held by Ms. Muhleisen‘s daughter, (v) 

913,220 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee for Class A GRATs established by Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, and 

(vi) shares that are owned by entities that Ms. Muhleisen may be deemed to control, consisting of: 404,500 shares owned 

by F&M, of which Ms. Muhleisen is a director and co-president and owns or controls 38.6% of the outstanding capital 

stock, and 1,497,395 shares held by Union Bank for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts 

at Union Bank (some of which shares may under certain circumstances be pledged as security by Union Bank‘s 

customers under the terms of the accounts) with respect to which Union Bank may be deemed to have or share voting or 

investment power.  Ms. Muhleisen, the sister of Michael S. Dunlap, is a director, chairperson, president, and chief 

executive officer of and controls Union Bank through F&M.  Ms. Muhleisen disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares 

held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union Bank, except for her retained 
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beneficial interest in 913,220 shares of Class A common stock held in trust on her behalf and on behalf of her spouse 

under two of the Class A GRATs.  She also disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by F&M, except to the 

extent of her pecuniary interest therein.  The address for Ms. Muhleisen is c/o Union Bank and Trust Company, P.O. Box 

82529, Lincoln, Nebraska 68501.  With respect to the number of shares of Class A common stock beneficially owned by 

Ms. Muhleisen that are held by Union Bank, the number of shares set forth in the table reflects the number of shares held 

by Union Bank as of December 31, 2010, as reported in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC on 

February 14, 2011. 

  

(7) Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 1,361,436 shares of Class B common stock 

that are held by Union Bank as Trustee under Class B GRATs established by Mr. Dunlap and Mr. Butterfield. Ms. 

Muhleisen disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under the Class B GRATs. 

  

(8) Union Bank is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 30,000 shares of Class A common stock that are 

held by the Union Bank profit sharing plan.  Union Bank is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 

4,517,955 shares of Class A common stock, which includes (i) 195,000 shares held as trustee for the University of 

Nebraska Foundation, (ii) 219,022 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a Class A GRAT and a Class A 

charitable remainder trust established by Mr. Noordhoek, (iii) 913,220 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under Class 

A GRATs established by Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, (iv) 2,137,340 shares of Class A common stock held by Union 

Bank in individual accounts for Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, and (v) 1,053,373 shares held for the accounts of 

miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union Bank (some of which shares may under certain 

circumstances be pledged as security by Union Bank‘s customers under the terms of the accounts) with respect to which 

Union Bank may be deemed to have or share voting or investment power.  Union Bank disclaims beneficial ownership of 

such shares except to the extent that Union Bank actually has or shares voting power or investment power with respect to 

such shares.  The address for Union Bank is P.O. Box 82529, Lincoln, Nebraska 68501; Attention: Angela L. Muhleisen, 

President.  The number of shares of Class A common stock set forth in the table for Union Bank reflect the number of 

shares held by Union Bank as of December 31, 2010, as reported in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC 

on February 14, 2011. 

  

(9) Union Bank is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 1,361,436 shares of Class B common stock that 

are held by Union Bank as Trustee under Class B GRATs established by Mr. Dunlap and Mr. Butterfield.  Union Bank 

disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent that Union Bank actually has or shares voting power or 

investment power with respect to such shares.  

 

(10) Includes 50,080 shares owned by Mr. Heimes‘ spouse. A total of 115,690 Class A shares are pledged as collateral for a 

line of credit which had not been drawn upon as of February 28, 2011.  

 

(11) Includes 500 shares jointly owned by Mr. Munn and his spouse and 66 shares issued under the Company‘s Restricted 

Stock Plan of which 33 shares will vest on each March 9, 2011 and March 9, 2012.   

 

(12) Includes 177,806 shares held by the Jeffrey R. Noordhoek Trust, 195,187 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a 

Class A GRAT established by Mr. Noordhoek, and 23,835 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a Class A CRUT 

established by Mr. Noordhoek.  A total of 194,232 Class A shares are pledged as collateral for a line of credit which had 

not been drawn upon as of February 28, 2011. 

 

(13) Includes 2,625 shares issued under the Company‘s Restricted Stock Plan, which vest in equal annual installments of 375 

shares from March 2011 through March 2017. 

 

(14) Includes 25,082 shares that Mr. Abel has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the deferral election provisions of the 

Company‘s Directors Stock Compensation Plan.  Also includes 500 shares owned by Mr. Abel‘s spouse. 

 

(15) Includes 13,989 shares that Ms. Farrell has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the deferral election provisions of the 

Company‘s Directors Stock Compensation Plan.   

 

(16) Includes 29,993 shares that Mr. Henning has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the deferral election provisions of 

the Company‘s Directors Stock Compensation Plan.  Also includes 3,090 shares owned by Mr. Henning‘s spouse. 

 

(17) Includes 14,335 shares that Ms. Rath has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the deferral election provisions of the 

Company‘s Directors Stock Compensation Plan.  Amount also includes 1,200 shares owned by Ms. Rath‘s husband in an 

individual retirement account. 
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(18) Includes 15,672 shares owned jointly by Mr. Reardon and his spouse in a margin securities account at a brokerage firm.  

Positions held in such account, including shares of the Company‘s Class A common stock, may under certain 

circumstances be pledged as collateral security for the repayment of debit balances, if any, in such account. 

 

(19) On February 9, 2011, The Vanguard Group, Inc. (―Vanguard‖) filed a Schedule 13G with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission indicating that they beneficially owned 5.6% of the Company‘s Class A common stock as of December 31, 

2010.  The amounts set forth in the table reflect the number of shares reported in the Schedule 13G and includes 53,501 

shares held by Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company (―VFTC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard.  VFTC is the 

investment manager of collective trust accounts.  The principal business address for Vanguard is 100 Vanguard 

Boulevard, Malvern, Pennsylvania, 19355.   

 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company‘s executive officers and directors, and persons who beneficially own more 

than ten percent of a registered class of the Company‘s equity securities, to file with the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange 

reports of ownership of Company securities and changes in reported ownership.  Executive officers, directors, and greater than ten 

percent shareholders are required by SEC rules to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports that they file. 

 

Based solely on a review of the reports furnished to the Company, or written representations from reporting persons that all reportable 

transactions were reported, the Company believes that during the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company‘s executive officers, 

directors, and greater than ten percent beneficial owners timely filed all reports they were required to file under Section 16(a) of the 

Exchange Act, except as noted below. 

 

One Form 4 report for James H. Van Horn, who resigned from the Company‘s Board of Directors effective February 15, 2010, that 

reported one transaction relating to the conversion pursuant to the Directors Stock Compensation Plan of previously reported shares of 

phantom stock into shares of Class A common stock upon Mr. Van Horn‘s resignation from the Board of Directors, was filed late on 

March 2, 2010 due to an administrative oversight by the Company‘s staff.  In addition, one Form 4 report for Angela L. Muhleisen, a 

greater than ten percent beneficial owner, that reported two transactions relating to sales of shares of Class A common stock by Ms. 

Muhleisen‘s children on July 1, 2010 pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 sales plans adopted on September 15, 2009, was filed one day late on 

July 7, 2010 due to an administrative oversight by the Company‘s staff. 

 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS   

 

Policies and Procedures on Transactions with Related Persons 

 

The Company has adopted written policies and procedures for the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee‘s review of any 

transaction, arrangement, or relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or series of similar transactions, 

arrangements, or relationships in which (i) the Company is a participant, (ii) the aggregate amount involved will or may be expected to 

exceed $120,000, and (iii) a related person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest.  For purposes of this policy, a ―related 

person‖ means (i) any of our directors, executive officers, or nominees for director, (ii) any stockholder that beneficially owns more 

than five percent of the Company‘s outstanding shares of common stock, and (iii) any immediate family member of the foregoing.  

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee approves or ratifies only those transactions that it determines in good faith are 

in, or are not inconsistent with, the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance 

Committee may, in its discretion, submit certain transactions to the full Board of Directors for approval where it deems appropriate. 

 

In determining whether to approve or ratify a transaction, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee takes into account 

the factors it deems appropriate, which may include, among others, the benefits to the Company, the availability of other sources for 

comparable products or services, the impact on a director‘s independence in the event the related person is a director, and the extent of 

the related person‘s interest in the transaction.  The policy also provides for the delegation of its authority to the Chairman of the 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee for any related person transaction requiring pre-approval or ratification between 

meetings of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews 

and assesses ongoing relationships with a related person on at least an annual basis to see that they are in compliance with the policy 

and remain appropriate. 

 

All approved related party transactions are communicated to the full Board of Directors by the Chairman of the Nominating and 

Corporate Governance Committee, or his designee.  Mr. Dunlap beneficially owns shares representing over 67% of the combined 

voting power of the Company‘s shareholders.  Because of his beneficial ownership, Mr. Dunlap can effectively elect each member of  

the Board of Directors, including all members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and has the power to defeat 

or remove each member. 
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Although there is no formal requirement for executive management of the Company to approve related party transactions, executive 

management reviews all related party transactions.  Upon reviewing related party transactions, executive management takes into 

account the factors it deems appropriate, which may include, among others, the benefits to the Company, the availability of other 

sources for comparable products or services, the impact on a director‘s independence in the event the related person is a director, and 

the extent of the related person‘s interest in the transaction.   

 

Each member of the Company‘s executive management has been hired by and is supervised by Mr. Dunlap and can be fired by him or 

otherwise penalized by him because he is the Chief Executive Officer. 

 

During 2010, the Company entered into certain transactions and had business arrangements with Union Bank and Trust Company and 

Union Financial Services.  These transactions were reviewed and approved by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 

and reviewed by executive management.  Union Bank and Trust Company and Union Financial Services are related persons as 

discussed below.  We cannot affirm whether or not the fees and terms of each transaction are substantially the same terms as those 

prevailing at the time for transactions with persons that do not have a relationship with the company (either directly or as a partner, 

shareholder, or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company).  However, all related party transactions are based 

on available market information for comparable assets, products, and services and are extensively negotiated. 

 

 Union Bank and Trust Company — Union Bank is controlled by Farmers & Merchants Investment Inc. (―F&M‖), 

which owns 81.4% of Union Bank‘s common stock and 15.4% of Union Bank‘s non-voting preferred stock. 

Michael S. Dunlap, a significant shareholder, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman, and a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Company, owns or controls 40.2% of the stock of F&M, while Mr. Dunlap‘s sister, Angela L. 

Muhleisen, owns or controls 38.6% of such stock. Mr. Dunlap serves as a director and co-president of F&M. Ms. 

Muhleisen serves as director and co-president of F&M and as a director, chairperson, president, and chief executive 

officer of Union Bank.  At February 28, 2011, Union Bank beneficially owned 12.2% of the Company‘s common 

stock.  F&M does not own 5% or more of the Company‘s stock; however, the stock holdings of both Union Bank 

and F&M are deemed to be beneficially owned by both Mr. Dunlap and Ms. Muhleisen, respectively.  At February 

28, 2011, Mr. Dunlap beneficially owned 34.8% of the Company‘s outstanding common stock and Ms. Muhleisen 

beneficially owned 18.9% of the Company‘s outstanding common stock. 

 

 Union Financial Services, Inc. – Union Financial Services Inc. (―UFS‖) is a corporation which is owned 50% by 

Michael S. Dunlap, a significant shareholder, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman, and a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Company, and 50% by Stephen F. Butterfield, Vice Chairman and a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Company. 

 

Transactions with Union Bank 

 

The Company has entered into certain contractual arrangements with Union Bank.  These transactions include: 

 

 Loan sales - During 2008 and 2009, the Company sold $535.4 million (par value) and $76.4 million (par value), respectively, 

of FFELP student loans (the ―FFELP Loans‖) to Union Bank. The Company recognized a loss of $3.9 million and $0.8 

million, respectively, on these loan sales which represented unamortized loan costs on these portfolios.  These loans were 

sold pursuant to an affiliate transaction exemption granted by the Federal Reserve Board which allowed Union Bank to 

purchase FFELP loans from the Company. In connection with the exemption and the loan purchase by Union Bank, an 

Assurance Commitment Agreement (the ―Commitment Agreement‖) was also entered into, by and among, the Company, 

Union Bank, and Mr. Dunlap. Per the terms of the Commitment Agreement, the Company provided certain assurances to 

Union Bank designed to mitigate potential losses related to the FFELP Loans, including holding amounts in escrow equal to 

the unguaranteed portion and reimbursing Union Bank for losses, if any, related to the portfolio.  As part of this agreement, 

the Company was also obligated to buy back loans once they were 30 days delinquent.  In 2010 and 2009, the Company 

bought back from Union Bank $11.7 million (par value) and $36.9 million (par value), respectively, in loans and incurred 

expenses of $128,000 and $374,000, respectively, related to this obligation.    

 

In March 2010, the Company purchased $524.2 million (par value) of federally insured student loans from Union Bank, 

which represented all outstanding FFELP loans remaining under the provisions of the Commitment Agreement. As a result of 

this loan purchase, the Company no longer has a commitment to hold amounts in escrow, reimburse Union Bank for losses, 

and buy back delinquent loans related to this portfolio.   
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 Loan purchases – During 2010, the Company purchased $989.2 million (par value) of FFELP student loans from Union 

Bank, which includes $535.9 million of loans purchased under the Commitment Agreement as discussed previously.  No 

premiums were paid for these loan purchases. 

 

 Loan servicing – As of December 31, 2010, the Company serviced $530.0 million of loans for Union Bank. Servicing 

revenue earned by the Company from this portfolio was $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

 

 Funding – The Company maintains an agreement with Union Bank, as trustee for various grantor trusts, under which Union 

Bank has agreed to purchase from the Company participation interests in student loans (the ―FFELP Participation 

Agreement‖).  The Company uses this facility as a source to fund FFELP student loans.  The Company has the option to 

purchase the participation interests from the grantor trusts at the end of a 364-day period upon termination of the participation 

certificate.  As of December 31, 2010, $350.4 million of loans were subject to outstanding participation interests held by 

Union Bank, as trustee, under this agreement. The agreement automatically renews annually and is terminable by either party 

upon five business days notice.  This agreement provides beneficiaries of Union Bank‘s grantor trusts with access to 

investments in interests in student loans, while providing liquidity to the Company on a short term basis.  The Company can 

participate loans to Union Bank to the extent of availability under the grantor trusts, up to $750 million or an amount in 

excess of $750 million if mutually agreed to by both parties.  Loans participated under this agreement have been accounted 

for by the Company as loan sales.  Accordingly, the participation interests sold are not included on the Company‘s 

consolidated balance sheet. 

 

The Company has from time to time repurchased certain of its own asset-backed securities (bonds and notes payable). For 

accounting purposes, these notes have been effectively retired and are not included on the Company‘s consolidated balance 

sheet. However, these securities are legally outstanding at the trust level and the Company could sell these notes to third 

parties or redeem the notes at par as cash is generated by the trust estate. During 2010, the Company participated $218.7 

million of these securities to Union Bank, as trustee for various grantor trusts, and obtained cash proceeds equal to the par 

value of the notes. The Company entered into a Guaranteed Purchase Agreement with Union Bank whereby it must purchase 

these notes back from Union Bank at par upon the request of Union Bank. As of December 31, 2010, $107.1 million of these 

securities were outstanding and subject to the participation agreement and are included in ―bonds and notes payable‖ on the 

Company‘s consolidated balance sheet. 

 

 Operating cash – The majority of the Company‘s cash operating bank accounts are maintained at Union Bank.  The Company 

also invests cash in the Short term Federal Investment Trust (―STFIT‖) of the Student Loan Trust Division of Union Bank, 

which the Company uses as operating cash accounts. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had $326.9 million deposited 

at Union Bank in operating accounts or invested in the STFIT.  Interest income earned from cash deposited in these operating 

cash accounts for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $1.1 million. 

 

 529 Plan administration – The Company provides certain 529 Plan administration services to certain college savings plans 

(the ―College Savings Plans‖) through a contract with Union Bank, as the program manager. Union Bank is entitled to a fee 

as program manager pursuant to its program management agreement with the College Savings Plans. In 2010, the Company 

received fees of $5.7 million from Union Bank related to the Company‘s administration services provided to the College 

Savings Plans.   

 

 Lease arrangement – Union Bank leases space in the Company‘s corporate headquarters building.  During 2010, Union Bank 

paid the Company approximately $71,000 for rent. 

 

 Other fees paid to Union Bank – During 2010, the Company paid Union Bank approximately $655,000 for administrative and 

record keeping services, commissions, and cash management fees. 

 

 Other fees received from Union Bank – During 2010, the Company received approximately $165,000 from Union Bank 

related to an employee sharing arrangement and for providing health and productivity services. 

 

 Investment services - In December 2010, Union Bank established various trusts whereby Union Bank serves as trustee for the 

purpose of purchasing, holding, and selling investments in student loan asset backed securities. The Company and Union 

Bank have both invested money into the trusts.  As of December 31, 2010 and February 28, 2011, the Company had $4.9 

million and $22.9 million, respectively, and Union Bank had $28.6 million and $128.8 million, respectively, invested in the 

trusts. The Company and Union Bank employ certain individuals as dual employees and such employees provide consulting 

and advisory services to Union Bank as trustee for these trusts, and Union Bank has agreed to pay the Company for the share 
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of such employees‘ salary and payroll based on the value of such services rendered as well as the loss of value of such dual 

employees‘ services to the Company. 

 

 Defined contribution plan – Union Bank administers the Company‘s 401(k) defined contribution plan.  Fees paid to Union 

Bank to administer the plan, approximately $239,000 in 2010, are paid by the plan‘s participants. 

 

 Letter of credit – Union Bank has issued a $125,000 letter of credit for the Company‘s benefit.  Union Bank charged no fee 

for providing this service. 

 

The net aggregate impact on the Company‘s consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2010 related to the 

transactions with Union Bank as described above was income of approximately $8.2 million.  See note 20 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements included in the Company‘s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended 

December 31, 2010 for additional information related to the transactions between the Company and Union Bank. 

 

The Company intends to maintain its relationship with Union Bank, which the Company‘s management believes provides certain 

benefits to the Company.  Those benefits include Union Bank‘s knowledge of and experience in the FFELP industry, its willingness to 

provide services, and at times liquidity and capital resources on an expedient basis, and the proximity of Union Bank to the 

Company‘s corporate headquarters located in Lincoln, Nebraska. 

 

The majority of the transactions and arrangements with Union Bank are not offered to unrelated third parties or subject to competitive 

bids.  Accordingly, these transactions and arrangements not only present conflicts of interest, but also pose the risk to the Company‘s 

shareholders that the terms of such transactions and arrangements may not be as favorable to the Company as it could receive from 

unrelated third parties.  Moreover, the Company may have and/or may enter into contracts and business transactions with related 

parties that benefit Mr. Dunlap and his sister, as well as other related parties, that may not benefit the Company and/or its minority 

shareholders. 

 

Transactions with Union Financial Services 

 

In December 2007, the Company approved an assignment of a lease to UFS.  The lease was for approximately 3,100 square feet at a 

base rent of $23.50 per square foot per year.  The lease was terminated on August 31, 2010. 

 

The Company owns a 74.753% interest in an aircraft due to the frequent business travel needs of the Company‘s executives and the 

limited availability of commercial flights in Lincoln, Nebraska, where the Company‘s headquarters are located.  UFS owns the 

remaining 25.247% interest in the same aircraft.  The aircraft joint ownership agreement between the Company and UFS for this 

aircraft will continue in effect on a month to month basis until terminated by mutual agreement.  UFS will have the right to require the 

Company to purchase UFS‘s interest in the aircraft for an amount equal to UFS‘s pro rata portion (determined on the basis of its 

ownership percentage) of the aircraft‘s fair market value at that time.  If the term of the joint ownership agreement is not extended by 

agreement of the Company and UFS, the aircraft must be sold and the net proceeds from the sale distributed to the Company and UFS 

in proportion to their ownership percentages.  Under an aircraft maintenance agreement among the Company, UFS, and an unrelated 

aviation service company, a total of approximately $500,000 in management fees was paid to the service company in 2010, which 

amount was allocated to the Company and UFS based on their respective ownership percentages.  The maintenance agreement also 

provides that the Company must pay for all flight operating expenses for each flight conducted on its behalf, with a corresponding 

obligation by UFS, and that both the Company and UFS must pay their pro-rata portion, based on actual use percentages, of the cost of 

maintaining the aircraft. 

Other Transactions 

 

During 2010, the Company provided group life insurance policies for its employees through Assurity Life Insurance Company 

(―Assurity‖).  The Company paid Assurity approximately $330,000 in premiums related to those policies during 2010.  Mr. Henning, 

who serves on the Company‘s board of directors, is the president and chief executive officer of Assurity.   

 

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time, the Company, some of the Company‘s executive officers, and some of the members of 

the Company‘s Board of Directors invest in small or startup companies, often in the Company‘s local community.  In some cases, 

executive officers of the Company may also serve as members of the Board of Directors of such companies in connection with the 

investment.   

 

The Company and Mr. Dunlap have invested $100,000 and $225,000, respectively, in Agile Sports, Inc.  Agile Sports, Inc. is located 

in Lincoln, Nebraska and helps coaches and players of various sports prepare more efficiently through a web-based platform.  In 

March 2011, Mr. Dunlap began serving on the Board of Directors of Agile Sports, Inc.   
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In November 2010, the Company and certain executive officers and board members invested a total of $1.5 million in Xuba, LLC.   

Xuba, LLC is located in Omaha, Nebraska and offers an innovative social commerce model that delivers a personalized customer 

experience to its clients.  The investors and amount invested include the Company ($1.0 million) and certain executive officers and 

board members ($0.5 million, including $250,000 invested by UFS and $150,000 by Jeffrey R. Noordhoek, the Company‘s president).   

Mr. Noordhoek is a Director of Xuba, LLC.   

 

Neither the Company, the Company‘s executive officers, nor members of the Company‘s Board of Directors, individually or in the 

aggregate, owns a majority interest in any of these companies.   

 

While the Company does not deem these investments to be related party transactions, the Company reports investment activity of this 

type to the Board of Directors.   

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT  

 

Report of the Board Audit Committee 

 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the ―Committee‖) is responsible for the oversight of the integrity of the Company‘s 

consolidated financial statements, the Company‘s system of internal control over financial reporting, the Company‘s policy standards 

and guidelines for risk assessment and risk management, the qualifications and independence of the Company‘s independent auditor, 

the performance of the Company‘s internal and independent auditors, and the Company‘s compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements. The Committee has the sole authority and responsibility to select, determine the compensation of, evaluate, and, when 

appropriate, replace the Company‘s independent auditor.  The Committee is currently comprised of three independent directors and 

operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is available at www.nelnetinvestors.com.  The Board has 

determined that each Committee member is independent under the standards of director independence established under the 

Company‘s Corporate Governance Guidelines and the New York Stock Exchange listing requirements and is also independent under 

applicable independence standards of the Exchange Act. 

 

The Committee serves in an oversight capacity and is not part of the Company‘s managerial or operational decision-making process.  

Management is responsible for the financial reporting process, including the system of internal controls, for the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and for the report on the Company‘s 

internal control over financial reporting.  The Company‘s independent auditor, KPMG LLP, is responsible for auditing those financial 

statements and expressing an opinion as to their conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and for expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company‘s internal control over financial reporting.  The Committee‘s responsibility is to oversee 

the financial reporting process and to review and discuss management‘s report on the Company‘s internal control over financial 

reporting.  The Committee relies, without independent verification, on the information provided to it and on the representations made 

by management, the internal auditor, and the independent auditor. 

 

The Committee held nine meetings during 2010.  The Committee, among other things: 

 

 Reviewed and discussed the Company‘s earnings releases, Quarterly Reports on form 10-Q, and Annual Report on form 

10-K, including the consolidated financial statements 

 

 Reviewed and discussed the Company‘s policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management and the major 

risk exposures of the Company and its business units, as appropriate 

 

 Reviewed and discussed the annual plan and the scope of the work of the internal auditor for fiscal 2010 and summaries 

of the reports to management by the internal auditor 

 

 Reviewed and discussed the annual plan and scope of the work of the independent auditor 

 

 Reviewed and discussed reports from management on the Company‘s policies regarding applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements 

 

 Met with KPMG LLP, the internal auditor, and Company management in separate executive sessions 
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The Committee reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 with 

management, the internal auditor, and KPMG LLP.  The Committee reviewed and discussed the critical accounting policies as set 

forth in the Company‘s Annual Report on Form 10-K, management‘s annual report on the Company‘s internal control over financial 

reporting, and KPMG LLP‘s opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.  The Committee also discussed 

with management and the internal auditor the process used to support certifications by the Company‘s Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer that are required by the SEC and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to accompany the Company‘s periodic 

filings with the SEC and the processes used to support management‘s annual report on the Company‘s internal control over financial 

reporting. 

 

The Committee discussed with KPMG LLP matters that independent accounting firms must discuss with audit committees under 

generally accepted auditing standards and standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, including, among other 

things, matters related to the conduct of the audit of the Company‘s consolidated financial statements and the matters required to be 

discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 114 (The Auditor‘s Communication With Those Charged With Governance).  This 

review included a discussion with management and KPMG LLP as to the quality (not merely the acceptability) of the Company‘s 

accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant estimates and judgments, and the disclosures within the Company‘s 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures relating to critical accounting policies. 

 

KPMG LLP also provided to the Committee the written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding KPMG LLP‘s communications with the Committee concerning independence.  The 

Committee discussed with KPMG LLP their independence from the Company.  When considering KPMG LLP‘s independence, the 

Committee considered if services they provided to the Company beyond those rendered in connection with their audit of the 

Company‘s consolidated financial statements, reviews of the Company‘s interim condensed consolidated financial statements included 

in its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and their opinion on the effectiveness of the Company‘s internal control over financial 

reporting were compatible with maintaining their independence.  The Committee also reviewed and pre-approved, among other things, 

the audit, audit-related, and tax services performed by KPMG LLP.  For tax services, the pre-approval included discussion with 

KPMG LLP concerning their independence as required by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3524 (Audit 

Committee Pre-approval of Certain Tax Services). The Committee received regular updates on the amount of fees and scope of audit, 

audit-related, and tax services provided. 

 

Based on the Committee‘s review and these meetings, discussions, and reports, and subject to the limitations on the Committee‘s role 

and responsibilities referred to previously and in the Audit Committee Charter, the Committee recommended to the Board that the 

Company‘s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 be included in the Company‘s 2010 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the SEC. 

 

The Committee has also selected KPMG LLP as the Company‘s independent auditor for the year ending December 31, 2011 and is 

presenting the selection to the shareholders for ratification. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Brian J. O‘Connor, Chairman 

Kathleen A. Farrell 

Thomas E. Henning 

 

PROPOSAL 2 – RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING 

FIRM 

 

The Audit Committee selects the Company‘s independent registered public accounting firm.  This proposal is put before the 

shareholders because the Board believes that it is good corporate practice to seek shareholder ratification of the selection of the 

independent registered public accounting firm.  If the appointment of KPMG LLP is not ratified, the Audit Committee will evaluate 

the basis for the shareholders‘ vote when determining whether to continue the firm‘s engagement. 

 

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the 

independent registered public accounting firm for 2011.   

 

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present or represented and entitled to be voted at the 

Annual Meeting is required to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP.  Unless marked to the contrary, proxies will be voted FOR the 

ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for 2011. 
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Representatives of KPMG LLP are expected to attend the Annual Meeting and to respond to appropriate questions from shareholders 

present at the meeting and will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so. 

 

Independent Accountant Fees and Services   

 

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered by KPMG LLP for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 are set forth 

below. 
 

2010 2009

Audit fees $ 577,309           634,461         

Audit-related fees 1,105,595        1,014,384      

Tax fees 168,582           129,948         

All other fees 1,500               1,500             

Total $ 1,852,986        1,780,293      

 
Audit fees were for professional services rendered for the audits of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and 

subsidiary audits, the audit on the effectiveness of the Company‘s internal control over financial reporting, and consents.  

 

Audit-related fees were for assurance and other services related to service provider compliance reports, employee benefit plan audits, 

agreed-upon procedures, and consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.   

 

Tax fees were for services related to tax compliance and planning. 

 

All other fees represent the amount paid by the Company for access to an on-line accounting and tax reference tool. 

 

The Audit Committee‘s pre-approval policy and procedures are outlined in its charter.  The Audit Committee has the sole authority to 

appoint, retain, and terminate the Company's independent auditor, which reports directly to the Audit Committee.   The Audit 

Committee is directly responsible for the evaluation, compensation (including as to fees and terms), and oversight of the work of the 

Company's independent auditor (including resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding fi-

nancial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review, or attestation services for 

the Company.   All related fees and costs of the independent auditor, as determined by the Audit Committee, are paid promptly by the 

Company in accordance with its normal business practices.  All auditing services and permitted non-audit services performed for the 

Company by the independent auditor, including the services described above, are pre-approved by the Audit Committee, subject to 

applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  The Audit Committee may form and delegate to a subcommittee the authority to grant pre-

approvals with respect to auditing services and permitted non-auditing services, provided that any such grant of pre-approval shall be 

reported to the full Audit Committee at its next meeting. 

 

PROPOSAL 3 - ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, enacted in July 2010, requires that the Company provide its 

shareholders with the opportunity to vote to approve, on a nonbinding, advisory basis, the compensation of the Company‘s Named 

Executives Officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission. The Company is therefore providing its shareholders with the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on 

executive compensation as described below. The Company believes that it is appropriate to seek the views of shareholders on the 

design and effectiveness of the Company‘s executive compensation program. 

 

As described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement, the Company‘s objective for its executive 

compensation program is to attract, motivate and retain executives who will contribute to the Company‘s long-term success and the 

creation of shareholder value.  The Company seeks to accomplish this objective in a way that rewards performance and is aligned with 

its shareholders‘ long-term interests, and the Company‘s compensation programs are designed to reward the Named Executive 

Officers for the achievement of short-term and long-term strategic and operational goals and the achievement of increased shareholder 

return, while at the same time avoiding the encouragement of unnecessary or excessive risk-taking. 

 

The framework and executive compensation philosophy are established by an independent Compensation Committee of the Board of 

Directors. The following items reflect our commitment to pay for performance and to maintain a strong executive compensation 

governance framework: 
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 Incentive plans that are based upon targets that are approved annually by the Compensation Committee. 
 

 The peer group of companies used to benchmark executive compensation levels is carefully selected and reviewed. 
 

 An annual risk assessment conducted by the Compensation Committee to evaluate whether incentive programs drive 

behaviors that are demonstrably within the risk management parameters it deems prudent. 
 

 A robust share ownership and retention policy. 
 

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the compensation tables and disclosures provided in this Proxy Statement describe 

the Company‘s executive compensation program in more detail, and discuss the following key elements of the program: 

 

 Mr. Dunlap‘s salary as Chief Executive Officer is $500,000 per year and has not been increased since 2006, and his 

annual performance-based incentive opportunity will not exceed an additional $500,000. 
 

 Mr. Dunlap beneficially owns 16.8 million shares, or 34.8%, of the Company‘s outstanding Class A and Class B 

common stock, which significantly aligns his interests with the shareholders‘ interests. 
 

 None of the Named Executive Officers has an employment agreement or severance arrangement. In addition, the 

Company generally does not provide any perquisites, tax reimbursements, or change in control benefits to the Named 

Executive Officers that are not available to other employees. 
 

 Each of the Named Executive Officers is employed at-will and is expected to demonstrate exceptional personal 

performance in order to continue serving as a member of the executive team. 
 

The Company believes the compensation program for the Named Executive Officers is instrumental in helping the Company achieve 

its strong financial performance, and is asking shareholders to approve the compensation of the Company‘s Named Executive Officers 

as disclosed in this Proxy Statement, including in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables, and the 

narrative disclosures that accompany the compensation tables. 

 

The vote on this proposal is not intended to address any specific element of compensation; rather, the vote relates to the compensation 

of our Named Executive Officers, as described in this Proxy Statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the 

Securities and Exchange Commission.  As an advisory vote, the vote on this proposal is not binding upon the Company, the Board of 

Directors, or the Compensation Committee. However, the Compensation Committee, which is responsible for designing and 

administering the Company‘s executive compensation program, values the opinions expressed by shareholders in their vote on this 

proposal and will consider the outcome of the vote when making future compensation decisions for Named Executive Officers. 

 

Accordingly, the Company‘s shareholders are asked to vote on the following resolution at the Annual Meeting: 

 

―RESOLVED, that the Company's shareholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the Named Executive 

Officers, as disclosed in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the 

compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Compensation Discussion and 

Analysis, the 2010 Summary Compensation Table, and the other related tables and disclosure.‖ 

 

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the approval of the compensation of the Company’s Named Executive 

Officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement. 

 

PROPOSAL 4 – ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF AN ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE 

COMPENSATION 

 

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act also provides that shareholders must be given the opportunity to 

vote, on a non-binding, advisory basis, for their preference as to how frequently the Company should seek future advisory votes on the 

compensation of its Named Executive Officers as disclosed in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, which the Company refers to as an advisory vote on executive compensation.  By voting with respect to this 

Proposal 4, shareholders may indicate whether they would prefer that the Company conduct future advisory votes on executive 

compensation once every one, two, or three years.  Shareholders also may, if they wish, abstain from casting a vote on this proposal. 



                     

                                         

35 

The Company‘s Board of Directors has determined that an advisory vote every year on executive compensation will allow the 

Company‘s shareholders to provide timely, direct input on the Company's executive compensation philosophy, policies, and practices 

as disclosed in the proxy statement each year. 

As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding upon the Company or the Board of Directors in any way. However, the Board of 

Directors and the Compensation Committee, which is responsible for designing and administering the Company‘s executive 

compensation program, value the opinions expressed by shareholders in their vote on this proposal and will consider the outcome of 

the vote when making future decisions as to the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation.  The Board of 

Directors may decide that it is in the best interests of the shareholders and the Company to hold an advisory vote on executive 

compensation more or less frequently than the frequency receiving the most votes cast by the shareholders. 

Shareholders may cast a vote on the preferred future advisory vote frequency by selecting the option of one year, two years, or three 

years (or abstain) when voting in response to the resolution set forth below. 

 

―RESOLVED, that the shareholders determine, on an advisory basis, whether the preferred frequency of an advisory vote on 

the executive compensation of the Company‘s Named Executive Officers as set forth in the Company‘s proxy statement 

should be every year, every two years, or every three years.‖ 

 

Shareholders have the opportunity to choose among four options (holding the vote every one, two or three years, or abstaining) and, 

therefore, shareholders will not be voting to approve or disapprove the recommendation of the Board of Directors. 

 

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote for the option of EVERY ONE YEAR (as opposed to every two 

years or every three years) as the preferred frequency for advisory votes on executive compensation. 

OTHER SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 

 

Householding 

 

Under SEC rules, we are allowed to send in a single envelope our Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or a single copy 

of our proxy solicitation and other required annual meeting materials to two or more shareholders sharing the same address.  We may 

do this only if the shareholders at that address share the same last name or if we reasonably believe that the shareholders are members 

of the same family or group.  If we are sending a Notice, the envelope must contain a separate Notice for each shareholder at the 

shared address.  Each Notice must also contain a unique control number that each shareholder will use to gain access to our proxy 

materials and vote online.  If we are mailing a paper copy of our proxy materials, the rules require us to send each shareholder at the 

shared address a separate proxy card.  

 

We believe these rules are beneficial to both our shareholders and to us.  Our printing and postage costs are lowered anytime we 

eliminate duplicate mailings to the same household.  However, shareholders at a shared address may revoke their consent to the 

householding program and receive their Notice in a separate envelope, or, if they have elected to receive a full copy of our proxy 

materials in the mail, receive a separate copy of these materials. If you receive a single set of proxy materials but prefer to receive 

separate copies for each registered account in your household, please contact our agent, Broadridge, at: 1-800-542-1061, or in writing 

at: Broadridge Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York 11717. Broadridge will remove you from the 

householding program within 30 days of receipt of your request, following which you will begin receiving an individual copy of the 

material.  

 

You can also contact Broadridge at the phone number above if you received multiple copies of the proxy materials and would prefer to 

receive a single copy in the future 

 

Other Business 

 

On the date that this Proxy Statement is first made available to shareholders, the Board of Directors has no knowledge of any other 

matter which will come before the Annual Meeting other than the matters described herein. However, if any such matter is properly 

presented at the Annual Meeting, the proxy solicited hereby confers discretionary authority to the proxies to vote in their sole 

discretion with respect to such matters, as well as other matters incident to the conduct of the Annual Meeting. 

 

Shareholder Proposals for 2012 Annual Meeting 

 

Shareholder proposals intended to be presented at the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, currently scheduled for May 24, 2012, 

must be received at the Company‘s offices at 121 South 13
th

 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention: Corporate 

Secretary, on or before December 16, 2011, to be eligible for inclusion in the Company's 2012 proxy materials.  The inclusion of any 
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such proposal in such proxy materials shall be subject to the requirements of the proxy rules adopted under the Exchange Act, (the 

―Proxy Rules‖).  The submission of a shareholder proposal does not guarantee that it will be included in the Company‘s Proxy 

Statement. 

 

A shareholder may otherwise propose business for consideration or nominate persons for election to the Board of Directors, in 

compliance with federal proxy rules, applicable state law, and other legal requirements and without seeking to have the proposal 

included in the Company‘s Proxy Statement pursuant to the Proxy Rules.  The Company‘s By-Laws provide that the Secretary of the 

Company must receive any such proposal or nominations for the Company‘s 2012 Annual Meeting between January 25 and February 

24, 2012 (90 to 120 days before the 2012 Annual Meeting date).  The notice must contain the information required by the Company‘s 

By-Laws.  A proxy may confer discretionary authority to vote on any matter at a meeting if the Company does not receive notice of 

the matter within the time frame described above. A copy of the Company‘s By-Laws is available at the Company‘s Web site at 

www.nelnetinvestors.com under ―Corporate Governance‖ – ―Corporate Documents‖ or is available upon request to:  Nelnet, Inc., 121 

South 13
th

 Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention: Corporate Secretary.  The Chairman of the meeting may exclude 

matters that are not properly presented in accordance with these requirements. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

The information referred to under the captions ―Compensation Committee Report,‖ and ―Audit Committee Report‖ (to the extent 

permitted under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the ―1933 Act‖)) (i) shall not be deemed to be ―soliciting material‖ or to be 

―filed‖ with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and (ii) notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary that may be contained in any filing by the Company under the Exchange Act or the 1933 Act, shall not be 

deemed to be incorporated by reference in any such filing. 

 

           

 

http://www.nelnetinvestors.com/



